Copyright

by

Qiao Huan Gao

2011

The Thesis Committee for Qiao Huan Gao Certifies that this is the approved version of the following thesis:

The Tolerance of a *Rhodococcus* Drinking Water Isolate and *Zoogloea ramigera* to Silver Nanoparticles in Biofilm and Planktonic Cultures

APPROVED BY SUPERVISING COMMITTEE:

Supervisor:

Mary Jo Kirisits

Lynn E. Katz

The Tolerance of a *Rhodococcus* Drinking Water Isolate and *Zoogloea ramigera* to Silver Nanoparticles in Biofilm and Planktonic Cultures

by

Qiao Huan Gao, B.S.

Thesis

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas at Austin in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science in Engineering

The University of Texas at Austin August 2011

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, who taught me that even the most daunting tasks can be accomplished with patience and dedication.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Professor Mary Jo Kirisits, for her guidance, patience, motivation and continuous support of my graduate studies and research. Her mentorship and constant words of encouragement helped me in research, writing of this thesis and career choices beyond graduate school. I appreciate all her contributions of time and ideas to make my graduate school experience both productive and stimulating.

I would also like to thank Professor Lynn E. Katz, my second reader, for her support, advice and questions in the chemistry portion of this research. Prof. Katz inspired me to look at microbiology from a chemical prospective. Furthermore, I am thankful for the excellent examples that Prof. Kirisits and Prof. Katz provided as successful women engineers and professors.

My sincere thanks also go to Hanh Nguyen Phung-Ngoc for setting the foundation for much of this research on silver nanoparticles and microorganisms. I would also like to thank my fellow research group members, Christopher Kelley, Bryant Chambers and Sungwoo Bae, for their help with my experiments in the lab.

I would like to acknowledge the National Science Foundation (NSF) Graduate Research Fellowship, the Graduate School Diversity Mentoring Fellowship, American Water Works Association (AWWA) Holly A. Cornell Scholarship, Central Texas Section Water Environment Association (WEAT) Scholarship, and the W. H. Espey Memorial Endowed Presidential Scholarship for funding my graduate studies. I would also like to acknowledge Prof. Kirisits's NSF CAREER award for funding this research project.

Lastly, I am forever grateful to my family and friends for their love and support. Without them, I would not have become the person I am today.

Abstract

The Tolerance of a *Rhodococcus* Drinking Water Isolate and *Zoogloea ramigera* to Silver Nanoparticles in Biofilm and Planktonic Cultures

Qiao Huan Gao, M.S.E. The University of Texas at Austin, 2011

Supervisor: Mary Jo Kirisits

Spurred by a host of beneficial uses, the global use of nanoparticles is rapidly growing. Silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) are used widely in consumer products, medicine, and the semiconductor industry. As nanoparticles become more commonly used, the transport of nanoparticles into the environment might negatively affect microorganisms in natural and engineered systems. The effects of Ag NPs on microorganisms have primarily been studied in planktonic or free-swimming cultures, but little work has been done to look at biofilm susceptibility to Ag NPs. This thesis describes bacterial tolerance, or the ability of an organism to survive exposure to an insult, to Ag NPs. The tolerance of planktonic and biofilm cells of the common wastewater treatment bacterium *Zoogloea ramigera* and a *Rhodococcus* strain isolated from drinking water was tested. These bacteria were exposed to different concentrations of Ag NPs, ranging from 0 to 25 mg/L,

for a period of 5 hours. Results showed decreased tolerance with increasing Ag NP concentrations for both bacterial species. *Z. ramigera* biofilm cells are slightly more tolerant to Ag NPs than are planktonic cells. On the other hand, *Rhodococcus* planktonic and biofilm cells exhibit similar tolerance. However, in both cases, biofilm cells do not exhibit a striking protective effect against Ag NPs as compared to planktonic cells. This study shows that even short-term insults with Ag NPs can affect bacteria in engineered systems. A preliminary study of the shedding of free silver ions as a possible mechanism of Ag NP toxicity demonstrated that free silver ions were toxic to *Escherichia coli* in a 0.14M chloride environment. The data suggest that free silver ions can be pulled into solution from Ag NPs in chloride environments via ligand-promoted dissolution. Further work is needed to examine the antibacterial mechanism of Ag NPs against planktonic and biofilm cells to better understand how the release of nanoparticles into the environment can affect microorganisms in natural and engineered water systems.

Table of Contents

Abbreviations	xii
List of Tables	xiii
List of Equations	xiv
List of Figures	XV
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Objectives	4
1.3 Thesis Overview	4
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
2.1 Introduction	5
2.2 Nanoparticles	5
2.2.1 Nanoparticle Toxicity	7
2.2.2 Silver Nanoparticles	8
2.2.3 Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles	9
2.2.4 Antimicrobial Mechanisms of Silver Nanoparticles	10
2.2.4.1 Adherence to Cell Membrane	11
2.2.4.2 Cellular Internalization	11
2.2.4.3 ROS Generation	12
2.2.4.4 Silver Ion Release	12
2.2.4.5 Ligand-Promoted Dissolution	14
2.2.5 Silver Nanoparticles in Drinking Water Treatment	15
2.2.6 Silver Nanoparticles in Wastewater Treatment	16
2.3 Biofilms	17
2.3.1 Biofilm Resistance and Tolerance	17
2.3.1.1 Quorum Sensing	18
2.3.1.2 Metabolic Heterogeneity	19
2.3.1.3 Slow Penetration into Biofilms	20

2.3.1.4 Immobilization by Biosorption	20
2.3.1.5 Adaptive Responses	21
2.3.1.6 Persister Cells	21
2.3.2 Diffusion of Nanoparticles in a Biofilm	
2.4 Increased Tolerance Following Pre-Exposure	
Chapter 3: Materials and Methods	24
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Silver Nanoparticle Synthesis	24
3.2.1 Concentration Determination	
3.2.2 Size Determination	
3.3 Media Preparation	
3.3.1 Minimal Davis Medium	
3.3.2 Phosphate Buffered Saline	27
3.3.3 Luria-Bertani Agar Plates	27
3.3.4 Nutrient Broth	27
3.4 Spinning-Disk Chemostat Reactor	27
3.4.1 Spinning-Disk	
3.4.2 Biofilm and Planktonic Cell Culture Preparation	
3.5 Tolerance Assays	
3.5.1 Silver Nanoparticle Concentrations	
3.5.2 Planktonic and Biofilm Exposure	
3.5.3 Dilutions and Plating	
3.5.4 Germination with Silver Nanoparticles	
3.6 Doubling Time Determination	
3.7 Silver Ion Shedding Experiments	
3.7.1 Bacterial Culture Preparation	
3.7.2 Organic Compound Removal	
3.7.3 Tolerance Assays	
Chapter 4: Results and Discussion	
4.1 Introduction	

4.2 Silver Nanoparticle Size and Concentration	39
4.3 Doubling Time	42
4.3.1 Doubling Time of <i>Rhodococcus</i> Isolate without Ag NPs	42
4.3.2 Doubling Time of Z. ramigera without Ag NPs	44
4.3.3 Doubling Time of <i>Rhodococcus</i> Isolate in 391 µg/L Ag NPs	45
4.3.4 Doubling Time of Z. ramigera in 3.05 μg/L Ag NPs	46
4.4 Tolerance Assays	47
4.4.1 Tolerance of <i>Rhodococcus</i> Isolate	48
4.4.2 Tolerance of Z. ramigera	49
4.4.3 Tolerance of <i>Rhodococcus</i> Isolate after Previous Exposure to 391 NPs	μg/L Ag 52
4.4.4 Tolerance of Z. ramigera after Exposure to 3.05 µg/L Ag NPs	55
4.5 Effect of Silver Ion Complexes on Tolerance Assays	58
4.5.1 <i>Rhodococcus</i> Isolate Tolerance to Silver Ions	60
4.5.2 Effect of Organics Removal	62
4.5.3 E. coli Tolerance Assays with Ag ⁺ in Presence of Chloride or Nitr	ate.65
4.5.4 E. coli Tolerance Assays with Ag NPs in Presence of Chloride or	Nitrate
4.5.5 Silver Ions as Toxicity Mechanism of Ag NPs	69
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Work	71
5.1 Summary of Research Findings	71
5.2 Future Work	73
5.2.1 Water Chemistry and Silver Nanoparticles	
5.2.2 Electrostatic Interactions between Bacteria and Nanoparticles	74
5.2.3 Silver Nanoparticles in Natural Mixed Microbial Communities	74
5.2.4 Synergistic Effects of Silver Nanoparticles	75
Appendices	76
Appendix A List of Materials	76
Appendix B List of Instruments	77

References	
Vita	91

Abbreviations

American Type Culture Collection	:	ATCC
Biologically Active Carbon	:	BAC
Colony Forming Units	:	CFU
Criteria Maximum Concentrations	:	CMCs
Detection Limit	:	DL
Distilled Deionized	:	DDI
Dynamic Light Scattering	:	DLS
Escherichia coli	:	E. coli
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	:	EDTA
Extracellular Polymeric Substances	:	EPS
Inductively Coupled Plasma	:	ICP
Luria-Bertani	:	LB
Minimal Davis	:	MD
Phosphate-buffered saline	:	PBS
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	:	P. aeruginosa
Reactive Oxygen Species	:	ROS
Silver nanoparticle	:	Ag NP
Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure	:	TCLP
Transmission Electron Microscope	:	TEM
United States Environmental Protection Agency	:	USEPA
Zoogloea ramigera	:	Z. ramigera

List of Tables

Table 3.1: 10X PBS using chloride or nitrate	37
Table 4.1: Size characterization of Ag NPs (Nguyen Phung-Ngoc, 2010)	. 39
Table 4.2: Silver solubility products (Weast, 1968)	58
Table 4.3: Silver chloride species stability constants (Morel and Hering, 1993)	. 59

List of Equations

Equation 3.1: Flow rate	
Equation 3.2: Dilution rate	
Equation 3.3: Doubling time	
Equation 4.1: Detection limit of biofilm CFU	
Equation 4.2: Detection limit of planktonic CFU	

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Nanoparticles (NPs) in the environment model (Royal Society and Royal	
Academy of Engineering, 2004)	6
Figure 3.1: Schematic of spinning-disk reactor set-up	28
Figure 3.2: Schematic of spinning-disk	29
Figure 3.4: Summary of reactor set-up and tolerance assays	34
Figure 4.1: Standard curves for silver concentrations from ICP	41
Figure 4.3: Growth curve of Z. ramigera in the absence of Ag NPs	44
Figure 4.4: Growth curve of the <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate in the presence of 391 μ g/L Ag	
NPs	45
Figure 4.5 : Growth curve of <i>Z. ramigera</i> in the presence of 3.05 µg/L Ag NPs	46
Figure 4.6: Tolerance of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs	48
Figure 4.7: Tolerance of Z. ramigera planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs	50
(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)	50
Figure 4.8: Tolerance of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs	
with previous exposure to sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L	52
Figure 4.9: Comparison between the tolerances of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate planktonic cell	s,
with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L	53
Figure 4.10: Comparison between the tolerances of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate biofilm cells,	
with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L	54
Figure 4.11: Tolerance of Z. ramigera planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs with	
previous exposure to sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 µg/L	55

Figure 4.12: Comparison between the tolerances of Z. ramigera planktonic cells, with	
and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 $\mu g/L$. 56
Figure 4.13: Comparison between the tolerances of Z. ramigera biofilm cells, with an	d
without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L	. 57
Figure 4.14: Silver species distribution as a function of chloride concentration	. 60
Figure 4.15 : Tolerance of <i>Rhodococcus</i> isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag^+ in	
standard PBS, containing chloride	. 61
Figure 4.16: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of planktonic <i>E. coli</i> cells to	
Ag ⁺ in standard PBS, containing chloride	. 62
Figure 4.17: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of planktonic <i>E. coli</i> cells to	
Ag ⁺ in PBS-NO ₃ ⁻	. 63
Figure 4.18: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of <i>E. coli</i> planktonic cells to <i>A</i>	Ag
NPs in standard PBS, containing chloride	. 64
Figure 4.19: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of <i>E. coli</i> planktonic cells to <i>A</i>	Ag
NPs in PBS-NO ₃ ⁻	. 64
Figure 4.20 : Effect of chloride and nitrate on the tolerance of <i>E. coli</i> to Ag ⁺	. 65
Figure 4.21: Effect of chloride and nitrate on the tolerance of <i>E. coli</i> to Ag NPs	. 67
Figure 4.22: Color changes of Ag NPs in chloride and nitrate solutions	. 68
Figure 4.23 : Summary of effect of chloride and nitrate on Ag ⁺ and Ag NP toxicity to	
planktonic <i>E. coli</i>	. 69

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 BACKGROUND

The exponential growth in the production and usage of engineered nanoparticles across various technology sectors has prompted concerns over the release of these nanoparticles into the environment and their impacts on microorganisms in natural and built systems. Nanoparticles are defined by the *American Society of Testing Materials* as particles with at least two dimensions between 1 and 100 nm (ASTM, 2006). Nanoparticles have a high surface-to-volume ratio, giving them significantly distinct physical, chemical, and biological properties as compared to their bulk counterparts (Morones et al., 2005). Nanoparticles are used for a wide range of applications in numerous industries, including electronic, biomedical, pharmaceutical, textile, cosmetic, energy, environmental, and catalytic applications (Choi et al., 2003).

Due to the promising capabilities of nanotechnology, worldwide investment in nanotechnology research has increased exponentially. In fact, the nanotechnology sector is expected to grow to \$1 trillion by 2015 (Aitken et al., 2006). This exponential growth of nanotechnologies may lead to contamination of aquatic and soil environments (Brar et al., 2010). Nanoparticles can be transported into the environment through the use of commercial products containing nanoparticles and the nanoparticle manufacturing process. Indeed, nanoparticles have been found in soil, the atmosphere, surface water, and wastewater (Tolocka et al., 2004; Biswa and Wu, 2005; Johansen et al., 2008; Brar et al., 2010). These environmental pathways allow for direct exposure of humans and other organisms to nanoparticles.

Nanoparticles have been found to be toxic to humans and other organisms. One study found that exposing human lung epithelial cells to silica nanoparticles containing

iron, cobalt, manganese, and titanium dioxide causes oxidative stress (Limbach et al., 2007). Another study determined that uncoated fullerenes can serve as effective carrier molecules in aquatic organisms, providing toxic chemicals direct access to the brain (Oberdörster et al., 2005). Nanoparticles also have been shown to negatively impact freshwater, marine, and soil organisms (Klaine et al., 2008).

Silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) are used extensively as antibacterial agents. These nanoparticles have potential antimicrobial activity towards many pathogenic microorganisms (Panyala et al., 2008). Due to their low toxicity to human cells at low concentrations, high thermal stability, and low volatility, Ag NPs are utilized in burn treatment, surgical dressings, dental materials, stainless steel coatings, textile fabrics, wastewater and water treatment technologies, sunscreen lotions, and various other applications (Duran et al., 2007). The employment of Ag NPs in antimicrobial technologies is an emerging environmental research area due to the increase in microbial resistance to metal ions and antibiotics (Gong et al., 2007). More detailed studies are needed to understand the impact of burgeoning Ag NP technologies on microorganisms in natural and built environmental systems.

The effects of Ag NPs on microorganisms have primarily been studied in planktonic, or free-swimming, cells. Studies of the impact of Ag NPs on pure cultures of *Escherichia coli* show that these nanoparticles may adhere to the cell membrane, disrupting many important cellular functions; generate reactive oxygen species (ROS); and penetrate into the cell, causing DNA damage (Morones et al., 2005). Ag NPs have been shown to form pits in the membrane, allowing the nanoparticles to penetrate into the cell (Sondi et al., 2004). The release of free silver ions also is hypothesized to be a toxicity mechanism (Navarro et al., 2008; Miao et al., 2009; Sotirious and Pratsinis, 2010). However, little work has been done to look at biofilm susceptibility to Ag NPs.

Furthermore, most research has been done with common laboratory bacteria, and there is a lack of research carried out with bacterial species found in real treatment systems. To our knowledge, this the first study investigating the tolerance of bacteria from water and wastewater treatment systems. Furthermore, only a few studies have examined the antibacterial activity of free silver ions released from Ag NPs under real treatment system conditions.

This research examined the tolerance, or the ability of an organism to survive in the presence of a negative environmental factor, of planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs. Tolerance assays were carried out with bacteria from engineered water systems, including *Zoogloea ramigera*, a common wastewater bacterium that is crucial for floc formation in activated sludge, and a *Rhodococcus* strain isolated from drinking water. This research also examined the potential for bacteria to develop an increased tolerance to Ag NP insults after previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs. Finally, this research included a preliminary study of the release of free silver ions as a toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs in the presence of chloride.

An understanding of the fate, behavior, and impact of Ag NPs on planktonic and biofilm microbial communities in wastewater and drinking water treatment systems is necessary. These studies are important to address how the growing use of nanoparticles in consumer goods can affect microorganisms in engineered environments. For instance, negative impacts of Ag NPs on activated sludge bacteria in wastewater treatment might necessitate the removal of these nanoparticles upstream of the activated sludge process, and, in drinking water systems, Ag NPs can be embedded in membranes to prevent biofouling. Furthermore, there exists a potential of water and wastewater treatment bacteria to gain increased tolerance to Ag NPs after pre-exposure to sub-lethal concentrations.

1.2 OBJECTIVES

The main objective of this research was to assess the tolerance of planktonic and biofilm microorganisms from engineered water treatment systems to Ag NPs at the laboratory-scale. The experiments tested the tolerance of *Z. ramigera*, a common wastewater bacterium, and a *Rhodococcus* isolate from drinking water in planktonic and biofilm cultures. This research also investigated the ability of these bacteria to develop increased tolerance after previous exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs. Lastly, this research examined silver ion shedding as a toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs toward microorganisms.

1.3 THESIS OVERVIEW

This thesis research focuses on the biocidal effect of Ag NPs on microorganisms that are found in engineered water systems. The common wastewater treatment bacterium *Z. ramigera* and a *Rhodococcus* strain isolated from drinking water were used as model microorganisms to examine the toxicity of Ag NPs. The toxic effects of Ag NP on planktonic and biofilm cells were characterized with tolerance experiments. Tolerance was investigated with and without previous exposure to Ag NPs at sub-lethal concentrations.

Chapter 2 reports the literature review for this research. Chapter 3 describes the materials and methods, including the synthesis of Ag NPs and the tolerance experiments. This chapter also describes the investigation of silver ion shedding from Ag NPs as a possible toxicity mechanism. Chapter 4 presents the results and discussion. Finally, Chapter 5 summarizes the conclusions and recommendations for future work.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents the literature review on the effect of nanoparticles on microorganisms in planktonic and biofilm cultures. The following sections impart brief overviews of nanoparticles, their fate and transport in the environment, and their toxicity mechanisms on microorganisms. In particular, this literature review provides a summary of the current knowledge of the effect of silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) on microorganisms in natural and engineered systems, including their fate and transport in the environment, and their mechanisms of toxicity. Lastly, this chapter presents a general review of the tolerances of planktonic and biofilm cells to antibiotics and heavy metals, including a discussion of increased tolerance after previous exposure to these agents at sub-lethal concentrations.

2.2 NANOPARTICLES

Nanoparticles are a subgroup of nanomaterials and are defined as materials with at least two dimensions between 1 and 100 nm (ASTM, 2006). Their unique physical and chemical properties have sparked the exponential production and usage of nanoparticles in various technology sectors, including medical, water, pharmaceutical, catalytic, electronic, textile, painting, and cosmetic industries. Silver and titanium dioxide nanoparticles are used extensively due to their antibacterial and antifungal properties (Mueller and Nowack, 2008). Carbon nanotubes have promising applications in the electronics and polymer industries and the energy sector (Koehler et al., 2008).

Nanoparticles have natural and anthropogenic sources. However, concentrations of naturally occurring nanoparticles are low compared to the concentrations of manufactured nanoparticles that can be potentially released into the environment (Klaine et al., 2008). Maynard (2007) estimates that production of engineered nanoparticles will increase from 2,000 tons in 2004 to approximately 58,000 tons between 2011 and 2020. The exponential increase in nanoparticle production has prompted concerns over the release of these materials into the environment.

Figure 2.1 shows how engineered nanoparticles can enter the environment. In the manufacturing process, leakage and discharge from production, transportation, and storage result in the release of nanoparticles into the environment (Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering, 2004). Nanoparticles then have a potential to contaminate soil, air, surface waters, and groundwaters (Klaine et al., 2008).



Figure 2.1: Nanoparticles (NPs) in the environment model (Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering, 2004)

Nanoparticles also can interact with the biota in the environment. Human exposure to nanoparticles results from drinking contaminated water, breathing contaminated air, and consuming food contaminated with nanoparticles. Humans also are exposed to nanoparticles through direct usage of consumer goods containing nanoparticles. Finally, nanoparticles are transported to wastewater treatment plants or landfills, where these particles can accumulate and/or be released back into the environment (Biswa and Wu, 2005).

The transport of nanoparticles through drinking water and wastewater treatment systems suggests the importance of understanding how these materials can affect the valuable functions of the microorganisms present in these systems. Synthetic Ag NPs can accumulate in the activated sludge of the wastewater treatment process (Benn and Westerhoff, 2008). Choi et al. (2008) observed that Ag NPs can adversely affect the growth of beneficial ammonia-oxidizing bacteria utilized in wastewater treatment. However, studies of the impacts of nanoparticles on microorganisms in natural and engineered systems and the mechanisms of nanoparticle toxicity toward microorganisms are still in their infancy.

2.2.1 Nanoparticle Toxicity

The unique properties of nanoparticles, due to their large surface area to volume ratio, make them beneficial for many technological applications. However, these properties also might cause some nanoparticles to pose a hazard to humans and the environment. Suspensions of titanium dioxide, silicon dioxide, and zinc oxides were found to be toxic to the model gram-negative bacterium, *Escherichia coli*, and grampositive bacterium, *Bacillus subtilis* (Adams et al., 2006). This study also showed that antimicrobial activity increased with increasing concentrations of nanoparticles.

High concentrations of silver and molybdenum nanoparticles are toxic to rat liver cells, displaying cellular shrinkage and irregular shape after exposure (Hussain et al., 2005). Carbon nanotubes, zinc nanoparticles, and C_{60} fullerenes inhibit root growth and elongation in plants (Yang and Watts, 2005; Lin and Xing, 2007). C_{60} fullerenes damage cell membranes in human liver carcinoma cells through the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Sayes et al., 2005). The toxicity of nanoparticles to bacteria is dependent

on the nanoparticle size, pH, surface area, surface charge, stability in aqueous systems, ionic strength of the background, and the presence of natural organic matter (Musee et al., 2011).

Nanoparticles exhibit several mechanisms of toxicity toward microorganisms. Nanoparticles can attach to the cell membrane, disrupt cellular functions at the cytoplasmic membrane, and prevent protein and nucleic acid synthesis (Morones et al., 2005). Disruption of the cell membrane may be caused by the generation of ROS from nanoparticles. These molecules can oxidize the cell membrane, causing the cell to become more permeable, which affects important respiration functions at the membrane (Klaine et al., 2008). Furthermore, ROS can disrupt protein synthesis through chemical oxidative interactions and physical electrostatic interactions (Imlay, 2003). The growing use of engineered molecules and their eventual release into the environment may cause harm to the microorganisms in natural and built systems.

2.2.2 Silver Nanoparticles

Ag NPs are widely used due to their antimicrobial properties (Maynard, 2007). These nanoparticles can be found in products used in medicine, food storage, textile coatings, and various other environmental applications (Abou El-Nour et al., 2009), including water filtration and disinfection (Jain and Pradeep, 2005).

Of the 500 tons of Ag NPs produced per year, natural waters receive the largest input of Ag NPs in the natural environment, and sewage treatment plants receive the largest flow of Ag NPs in the built environment (Mueller and Nowack, 2008). Gottschalk et al. (2009) estimated that the concentration of Ag NPs in the United States will increase from 0.7 to 2.2 μ g/kg in sediments and from 2.3 to 7.4 μ g/kg in sludge-amended soil

between 2008 and 2012. These simulations used a model developed by Limbach et al. (2008) showing 90.6 to 99.5% removal efficiency of Ag NPs in the wastewater treatment process. Gottschalk et al. (2009) also predicted that the average Ag NP concentration in a sewage treatment plant effluent in the United States is 21.0 ng/L.

2.2.3 Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles

Ag NPs can be synthesized physically and chemically. The most common physical approach is an evaporation and condensation technique (Abou El-Nour et al., 2009). Ag NPs also can be synthesized with laser ablation of metallic bulk material in solution followed by coating with a surfactant (Abou El-Nour et al., 2009). Other physical approaches include ultraviolet (UV) photolysis and thermal decomposition (Isaeva et al., 2006; Tan et al., 2006; Balan et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008).

Ag NPs are most frequently produced via chemical reduction of silver ions. Reduction agents most commonly used are borohydride, citrate, ascorbate, and elemental hydrogen (Abou El-Nour et al., 2009). Strong reductants, such as borohydride, are used to produce monodispersed small particles with narrow size distributions, while weaker reductants, such as citrate, result in a slower reduction rate and broader size distributions (Sharma et al., 2009). Ag NPs also can be produced inside a microemulsion (Krutyakov et al., 2008). Other chemical techniques are metal vapor deposition (Hozumi et al., 2006), sonochemical decomposition (Yang et al., 2008), electrochemical techniques (Richmonds and Sankaran, 2008), and microwave plasma synthesis (Chau et al., 2005).

Lastly, Ag NPs can be biologically produced via reduction of aqueous silver ions by microorganisms, such as *Bacillus licheniformis* (Kalishwaralal et al., 2008). Biosynthesis of Ag NPs is considered a green synthesis because it allows for more environmentally friendly manufacturing, using extracts from microorganisms rather than the toxic chemicals required in some chemical and physical approaches (Sharma et al., 2009).

2.2.4 Antimicrobial Mechanisms of Silver Nanoparticles

Ag NPs have been shown to exhibit antimicrobial activity against planktonic cultures of *E. coli*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Morones et al., 2005), *Staphylococcus aureus* (Ayala-Núñez et al., 2009), *Bacillus subtilis* (Yoon et al., 2008), and *Enterococcus faecalis* (Panacek et al., 2006). Several mechanisms of Ag NP toxicity in bacteria are known. Ag NPs can adhere to the surface of the cell membrane, resulting in altered membrane properties that affect the permeability and the respiratory activity of the cell (Morones et al., 2005). Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004) hypothesized that Ag NPs can degrade lipopolysaccharide molecules on the membrane by producing ROS, resulting in a more permeable membrane. Ag NPs can penetrate inside bacteria and cause DNA damage due to silver's affinity to phosphorus (Morones et al., 2005).

The antimicrobial activity of Ag NPs is highly dependent on the size and shape of the nanoparticles (Rai et al., 2009). Ag NPs that are less than 10 nm are more toxic to *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* (Xu et al., 2006; Gopinath et al., 2006) compared to Ag NPs between 10 to 100 nm. In fact, Morones et al. (2005) showed that Ag NPs smaller than 10 nm can pass through the cell membrane and penetrate into the cell. Pal et al. (2007) showed that triangular or spherical Ag NPs exhibited antimicrobial activity at lower concentrations than did rod-shaped Ag NPs. However, it is important to note that antimicrobial activity varies with the type of bacteria, due to the differences in growth requirements and bacterial characteristics.

2.2.4.1 Adherence to Cell Membrane

One possible mechanism of Ag NP toxicity is adherence of nanoparticles to the cell membrane, thereby disrupting important cell functions and eventually leading to cell lysis and death (Morones et al., 2005). Similar to silver ions' strong affinity to phosphorus and sulfur compounds, Ag NPs are attracted to the sulfur-containing proteins at the cell membrane and thereby have the potential to denature these proteins (Feng et al., 2000). Once at the membrane, Ag NPs, similar to silver ions, have been found to interrupt the oxidative phosphorylation process in the respiratory chain, disrupt the proton-motive force across the cell membrane, and interact with thiol groups of membrane-bound enzymes (Holt and Bard, 2005). Feng et al. (2000) found the formation of a high-density region, rich with agglomerated DNA, at the center of an *E. coli* cell. This study suggests that the bacterium was aware of the presence of Ag NPs at the cell membrane and responded by concentrating its DNA at the center as a protective mechanism.

Electrostatic forces may cause surface interactions between Ag NPs and bacteria (Dror-Ehre et al., 2009). Depending on the mechanism of synthesis and background conditions, Ag NP surfaces can be either positively or negatively charged. Microorganisms with cell membranes that are negatively charged can attract the weak positive charge found in some Ag NPs (Kim et al., 2007). Furthermore, Dror-Ehre et al. (2009) found that the antimicrobial activity against bacteria is related to collision and attachment efficiencies between Ag NPs and bacteria.

2.2.4.2 Cellular Internalization

Another toxicity mechanism exhibited by Ag NPs is the ability to penetrate the cell. Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004) found damaged membranes in *E. coli* after

exposure to Ag NPs, resulting in increased permeability. This study hypothesized that the pits in the membrane were formed by Ag NP attachment and damage to lipopolysaccharide molecules on the membrane. Increased permeability also might result in the internalization of Ag NPs that are less than 10 nm (Morones et al., 2005). Ag NPs can penetrate into the cell and accumulate to toxic levels, eventually leading to cell death (Dror-Ehre et al., 2009). Xu et al. (2004) found that even large nanoparticles of up to 80 nm can accumulate inside *P. aeruginosa* cells.

2.2.4.3 ROS Generation

A third mechanism of toxicity is that Ag NPs can cause the formation and accumulation of intracellular ROS inside the cell membrane. These intracellular ROS can cause damage to cell components, including DNA and the cell membrane (Choi and Hu, 2008; Limbach et al., 2008; Nel et al., 2009). ROS generation can damage DNA, which can result in apoptosis, a cell suicide mechanism (Inoue et al., 2000; Bhakat et al., 2006).

2.2.4.4 Silver Ion Release

The release of free silver ions is a heavily debated mechanism of Ag NP toxicity. Silver cations have been used extensively for medical applications and are known to interfere with bacterial reproduction and growth (Ratte, 1999; Silver, 2003). Silver ions can bind to DNA and thiol groups in the cell, thereby inactivating vital components in bacterial reproduction and respiration (Holt and Bard, 2005).

There are several routes of silver internalization. Free silver ions can be taken up accidentally through the copper transport system, or other cation transport systems, such as those for sodium or potassium ions (Lee et al., 2009). Solioz and Odermatt (1995)

found silver cations being transported via the CopB-ATPase in membrane vesicles of *Enterococcus hirae*. Free silver ions and silver chloride complexes also can be transported via passive diffusion. Bury and Hogstrand (2002) found silver chloride complexes can be transported via passive diffusion across the gill cell membrane of Atlantic salmon and the yolk-sac fry of rainbow trout. Lastly, silver anion complexes, such as negatively charged silver-chloride or silver-thiosulfate complexes, can be transported via accidental anion transport in eukaryotes (Lee et al., 2009).

Navarro et al. (2008) and Miao et al. (2009) found that Ag NPs exhibit minimal toxicity against algae; however, the release of silver ions by the Ag NPs inhibits the algal cells. On the other hand, some studies show that the shedding of silver ions does not contribute to the toxicity of Ag NPs toward bacteria (Fabrega et al., 2009), fish embryos (Laban et al., 2010), and human cells (Kawata et al., 2009). Sotiriou and Pratsinis (2010) found that the dominant antibacterial activity of Ag NPs against *E. coli* is the release of silver ions when the nanoparticles are less than 10 nm. This study demonstrated that Ag NPs greater than 10 nm release less silver ions per Ag NP mass. Furthermore, Ag NPs greater than 10 nm contribute to the overall antimicrobial activity, unlike Ag NPs less than 10 nm, for which silver ions are the dominant antimicrobial agent.

The contradictory results from these studies suggest that the toxicity of Ag NPs is influenced by the method of nanoparticle synthesis, the microorganism studied, and the experimental conditions. For example, silver toxicity to microorganisms is dependent on the concentration of halide ions, such as chloride, in the surrounding environment (Silver, 2003). These halide ions can strongly bind silver ions and precipitate them out of solution (Silver, 2003). When the concentration of chloride ions is low (5 to 10 g/L NaCl), silver ions have a high affinity for bacterial cell surfaces. Moderate concentrations of chloride (10 to 20 g/L NaCl) can result in precipitation of silver chloride, and high concentrations

of chloride ions (20 to 30 g/L NaCl) result in the production of aqueous silver chloride, $AgCl_2^-$ (Gupta et al., 1998; Silver, 2003).

Lee et al. (2009) found uptake of free silver ions and silver chloride complexes decreased linearly with increasing concentrations chloride for the algae, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Bury and Hogstrand (2002) showed that silver uptake in fish increased linearly as a function of chloride concentration into the aqueous environment. The presence of 5 mM chloride resulted in a distribution of silver as 7% Ag ⁺, 31% AgCl⁰, and 62% AgCl₂⁻. Therefore, if silver ions are released from Ag NPs, the presence of chloride in the environment is an important factor to consider when investigating the toxicity of Ag NPs.

2.2.4.5 Ligand-Promoted Dissolution

We hypothesized that silver ion release from Ag NPs can be influenced by ligandpromoted dissolution in the presence of environmentally relevant aqueous inorganic ligands, such as sulfur, bromide, chloride, and iodide. The ligand-promoted dissolution model, developed by Stumm et al. (1990), shows a linear correlation between the dissolution rate of the core metal and the concentration of ligands at the surface. Although this model was developed for the weathering of minerals, ligand-promoted dissolution also can be applied to Ag NPs.

In the case of Ag NPs, as the concentration of ligands (such as chloride) increases, the dissolution rate of Ag NPs into solution as silver ions or silver complexes increases. Chappell et al. (2011) found that ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) promoted Ag NP dissolution to silver ions. Moreover, Wiley et al. (2004) found that 0.06 mM of chloride as NaCl and KCl promoted the dissolution of 20- to 80-nm Ag NPs to free silver ions. In fact, Linnert et al. (1990) observed that ligands that coordinate more strongly with silver would induce oxidative dissolution of Ag NPs at much faster rates, even at very low ligand concentrations.

2.2.5 Silver Nanoparticles in Drinking Water Treatment

Ag NPs have the potential to revolutionize water treatment systems. Ag NPs are relatively inert in water, and they can function as excellent adsorbents and catalysts due to their high surface area to volume ratio (Li et al., 2010). The use of Ag NPs as a possible disinfectant in water treatment is spurred by weaknesses in current chemical disinfectants. Chlorination, chloramination, and ozonation result in the formation of toxic disinfection byproducts (Krasner et al., 2006). Interest in the use of Ag NPs for water treatment also has been sparked by the potential of drinking water pathogens to develop tolerance and resistance to current disinfectants. Shannon et al. (2008) proposed that Ag NPs can be used in drinking water treatment to avoid the problem of increased concentrations of disinfection byproducts, which is a result of raising the disinfectant dosage to combat increased pathogen resistance or tolerance.

One major drawback in the use of Ag NPs in water treatment is the danger of these extremely small particles escaping the treatment system and entering the distribution system, leading to human consumption. Another drawback is the need to separate, capture, and reuse these nanoparticles in a water treatment system; however, immobilization of these particles reduces their total surface area, and hence, their disinfection and treatment effectiveness (Li et al., 2008).

2.2.6 Silver Nanoparticles in Wastewater Treatment

Since most of the Ag NPs in consumer goods end up at wastewater treatment plants, the exponential usage of these consumer goods will result in accumulation in wastewater sludge and effluent (Benn and Westerhoff, 2008). In wastewater, Ag NPs can remain as nanoparticles (Blaser et al., 2008) or release silver ions (Benn and Westerhoff, 2008). Furthermore, Ag NPs can complex with ligands commonly found in wastewater, such as sulfate, sulfide, chloride, phosphate, and EDTA (Limbach et al., 2005). Ag NPs can agglomerate in wastewater, making them easier to remove in the treatment process (Zhang et al., 2007). Moreover, Ag NP aggregation is controlled by the pH, ionic strength, and the presence of organic material (Dunphy Guzman et al., 2006).

If Ag NPs are not removed in the wastewater treatment system, they can be released into the environment. Assuming removal efficiency of Ag NPs to be 95 percent in a typical wastewater treatment plant (typical removal of silver ions in wastewater), Benn and Westerhoff's model predicts that although the treated effluent does not exceed the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) secondary drinking water standard for silver (100 μ g/L), the treated effluent does exceed the USEPA salt and freshwater Criteria Maximum Concentrations (CMCs). The model also estimates that the biosolids from wastewater treatment exceed the 5 mg/L USEPA Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP). Thus, the concentration of silver present in biosolids will prevent the use of wastewater biosolids as agricultural fertilizer (Benn and Westerhoff, 2008).

Due to their antimicrobial properties, Ag NPs can impact the biological treatment processes at wastewater treatment plants. Kim et al. (2010) found ellipsoidal-shaped Ag NPs present in sewage sludge, ranging from 5 to 20 nm. Ag NPs in a pilot wastewater plant adsorbed to wastewater biosolids and were chemically transformed into silver sulfide nanoparticles (Kaegi et al., 2011). Choi et al. (2008) showed that Ag NPs can have detrimental effects on the beneficial nitrifying bacteria used in wastewater treatment. Ag NPs in wastewater may impact treatment performance by inhibition of bacteria in secondary treatment processes and by fouling membranes with the deposition of large aggregates (Brar et al., 2010). Additional work is needed to examine the impact of Ag NPs on microorganisms in wastewater treatment.

2.3 BIOFILMS

Biofilms are communities of microorganisms that are attached to a solid substrate and encased in a matrix of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) (Flemming and Wingender, 2010). Biofilms are the predominant form of bacteria in natural and built environmental systems. Some examples include dental plaque, biofilms formed on hulls of ships, and biofilms in drinking water distribution systems. The first step in the formation of biofilms starts with free-floating, or planktonic, bacteria encountering and attaching to a surface (Dunne, 2002). These attached bacteria then begin to colonize the surface and produce EPS. Biofilms can disperse to new locations through detachment of small or large clumps of cells or the dispersal of individual cells (Hall-Stoodley et al., 2004).

2.3.1 Biofilm Resistance and Tolerance

Biofilm and planktonic cells have been studied extensively for their resistance and tolerance to antibiotics and heavy metals. However, biofilm resistance and tolerance to Ag NPs have hardly been studied. Since Ag NPs possess antibacterial and metallic properties, this literature review will include a general overview of the effects of antibiotics and heavy metals against planktonic and biofilm bacterial cells.

Tolerance is described as the ability of an organism to survive after exposure to an antimicrobial agent. Biofilms have been shown to be 10 to 1000 times more tolerant to antibiotics than are planktonic cells (Costerton et al., 1995; Ceri et al., 1999; Olson et al., 2002; Drenkard, 2003). Biofilms have been shown to have a 2- to 600-fold increase in tolerance to heavy metals as compared to planktonic cells (Teitzel and Parsek, 2003).

Resistance is defined as the ability of an organism to grow in the presence of an antimicrobial agent. Biofilms have been shown to possess greater resistance to antibiotics than do planktonic cells (McBain et al., 2003). *P. aeruginosa* biofilms have been shown to be 1000 times more resistant to antibiotics than are planktonic cells (Nickel et al., 1985). The higher resistance of biofilms to antibiotics is possibly due to slow diffusion or the prevention of antibiotic penetration into the biofilm; metabolic heterogeneity or zones of slow or non-growing cells resulting from a concentration gradient of metabolic substrates and products; an adaptive stress response by some cells of the biofilm; and generation of persister states within the biofilm (Stewart and Costerton, 2002).

2.3.1.1 Quorum Sensing

Quorum sensing cells mediate the regulation of changes in gene expression in response to fluctuations in cell-population density as reflected by the presence of signals that diffuse freely across cell membranes and between cells (Kjelleberg and Molin, 2002). Zhu and Mekalanos (2003) found that a quorum sensing system in *P. aeruginosa* was partly responsible for biofilm formation. Moreover, changes in physiological states of cells as a result of quorum sensing can alter the metal resistance and/or tolerance of the

entire biofilm population (Harrison et al., 2007). Quorum sensing has been shown to regulate the production of the extracellular matrix components that facilitate biosorption and immobilization of antimicrobial agents in the biofilm (Yarwood and Schlievert, 2003).

2.3.1.2 Metabolic Heterogeneity

Metabolite concentration gradients in biofilms result from the diffusion of nutrients, oxygen and metabolites throughout the attached bacterial community (Xu et al., 1998; Werner et al., 2004). These concentration gradients cause different microbial growth rates throughout the biofilm (Rani et al., 2007). Evans et al. (1991) showed that varying growth rates produce differences in the resistances of cells in a biofilm to antimicrobial agents. The study revealed that P. aeruginosa biofilm cells in the early stages of growth, exhibited a faster growth rate, and were more tolerant to ciprofloxacin than were planktonic cells. Borriello et al. (2004) found that in *P. aeruginosa* biofilms, slower-growing cells in the anoxic zone of the biofilm were inherently more tolerant to tobramycin, ciprofloxacin, carbenicillin, ceftazidime, chloramphenicol, and tetracycline compared to the fast-growing cells in the aerobic zone of the biofilm. Tack et al. (1985) found that aminoglycoside antibiotics were more toxic to cells under aerobic conditions as compared to anaerobic conditions. Changes in a cell's physiology, which can be associated with the metabolic concentration gradients in a biofilm, produce cells with lower susceptibility to antimicrobial agents. In the case of heavy metal exposure, changes in the cell's physiology can decrease metabolic ROS production due to reduced metabolic activity (Harrison et al., 2007).

Cells embedded deep within the biofilm do not have easy access to nutrients, oxygen, and other metabolites as compared to those cells present at the surface of the biofilm. As a result, they are intrinsically slower-growing and less active metabolically (Walters et al., 2003). Furthermore, concentration gradients of waste metabolites in the biofilm causes changes in pH, which in turn can cause bacteria embedded within the biofilm to enter a slow or non-growing state (Zhang et al., 1995).

2.3.1.3 Slow Penetration into Biofilms

The biofilm can function as a barrier to antimicrobial agents. The EPS matrix may limit or prevent the transport of antimicrobial agents to the cells embedded in the biofilm (Mah and O'Toole, 2001). de Beer et al. (1996) found that the concentration of chlorine, a common disinfectant, inside a mixed biofilm of Klebsiella pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa was less than 20 percent of the bulk medium's concentration. Suci et al. (1994) found a slower rate of transport of an antibiotic, ciprofloxacin, within a P. aeruginosa biofilm as compared to a sterile surface. Furthermore, microbially produced enzymes. such as beta-lactamases. aminoglycoside-modifying enzymes, or chloramphenicol acetyltransferases, can inactivate certain antimicrobial agents as they slowly penetrate through a biofilm (Stewart and Costerton, 2001).

2.3.1.4 Immobilization by Biosorption

In biofilms, dead cells can serve as biosorptive sites for heavy metals, sequestering or precipitating reactive metal species, and in turn protecting the living cells within the biofilm (Harrison et al., 2007). Dead cells also can contribute to the metabolite gradients, such as pH, within a biofilm via the release of protons across dead cell
membranes (Hunter et al., 2005). Therefore, metal anions might bind more readily to dead cells. Metal ions can be sequestered and immobilized by sorbing to components of the biofilm, such as extracellular polymers, cell membranes, and cell walls (Harrison et al., 2007). Hence, the dead biomass and other components of a biofilm can help protect live cells by restricting diffusion of metals into the biofilm.

2.3.1.5 Adaptive Responses

Biofilm microorganisms exhibit the ability to adapt to environmental stress conditions, such as limited nutrients and oxygen availability, oxidative stress, presence of antimicrobial agents, and changes in pH and temperature (Stewart and Costerton, 2001). In fact, Sauer et al. (2002) found that biofilms have different gene-expression patterns than those of planktonic cells, giving biofilms better ability to adapt to negative environmental conditions and allowing them to have higher tolerance and resistance than do planktonic bacteria. Szomolay et al. (2005) hypothesize that cells embedded deep within the biofilm enter an adapted physiological state that is resistant to antimicrobial agents. This adaptive state is a result of being exposed to only low concentrations of the antimicrobial due to the antimicrobial's slow penetration into the biofilm.

2.3.1.6 Persister Cells

Persister cells are specialized cells that have entered a highly protected or even spore-like state when exposed to antimicrobial agents (Lewis, 2007). Spoering and Lewis (2001) hypothesize that biofilms may produce persister cells at a rate that is 100 to 10,000 times higher than do planktonic cells in the exponential growth phase. Therefore, biofilms will inherently be more resistant and/or tolerant to an antimicrobial agent due to higher production of persister cells.

2.3.2 Diffusion of Nanoparticles in a Biofilm

Understanding the diffusion of nanoparticles in a biofilm is important in evaluating the impact of engineered nanoparticles on microbial communities found in natural and built environments. Peulen and Wilkinson (2011) show that Ag NPs greater than 50 nm are immobilized by extracellular components in a *Pseudomonas fluorescens* biofilm after 1.5 hours of Ag NP exposure. This study indicates that Ag NPs have a low diffusive flux into a biofilm and suggests that biofilms exhibit better protective abilities against nanoparticles than do planktonic cells. Results from these experiments also reveal that the effective pore size of the *Pseudomonas fluorescens* biofilm is about 50 nm for loose flocs but decreases to <10 nm for dense biofilms, where the biofilm density was controlled by the concentration of iron in the growth medium. In fact, nanoparticles that are greater than 50 nm demonstrated very little penetration into biofilms (Costerton et al., 1999). Therefore, better resistance and tolerance of biofilms toward antimicrobial agents can be attributed to hindered diffusion or retention in the outer biofilm layers (Costerton et al., 1999). However, further work is needed to fully understand the fate and transport of nanoparticles in biofilms.

2.4 INCREASED TOLERANCE FOLLOWING PRE-EXPOSURE

Bacteria can develop increased tolerance or resistance to antibiotics and heavy metals after a previous insult at a sub-lethal concentration. Díaz-Raviña and Baåth (1996) showed that bacterial communities in soil developed higher tolerance to Zn, Cd, Cu, and Ni after previous exposure to concentrations greater than 2 mM. Braoudaki and Hilton (2004) found that *Salmonella enteric* and *E. coli* increased their tolerance after exposure to sub-inhibitory concentrations of antibiotics, including amoxicillin, gentamicin, and triclosan. Bacteria can develop cross-resistance or multidrug resistance, in which these microorganisms will acquire increased tolerance or resistance to one or multiple antibiotics after previous exposure to another antibiotic. Therefore, as Ag NPs are becoming more heavily used as an antimicrobial agent in many consumer products, it is important to understand the toxicity of these nanoparticles toward bacteria that have been previously exposed to sub-lethal concentrations.

Chapter 3: Materials and Methods

3.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter details the synthesis of silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs), preparation of the growth media and spinning-disk reactor, and method for conducting the antimicrobial tolerance assays. The following sections also describe the silver ion shedding experiments used to evaluate silver ions as a possible Ag NP toxicity mechanism.

3.2 SILVER NANOPARTICLE SYNTHESIS

Ag NPs were synthesized by using sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) to reduce silver nitrate (AgNO₃), with mercaptosuccinic acid (C₄H₆O₄S) as a capping agent (Barron et al., 2009). Appropriate solutions were prepared for the Ag NP synthesis: 10.0 mg AgNO₃ in 20 mL of distilled deionized (DDI) water, 16.2 mg C₄H₆O₄S in 20 mL of DDI water, and 15.0 mg NaBH₄ in 5 mL of ice cold DDI water.

Five mL of the AgNO₃ solution were mixed by vortexing and added to 5 mL of $C_4H_6O_4S$ in a 50-mL disposable conical tube. The resulting solution was well mixed with a Teflon-coated magnetic stir bar on a stirring plate and cooled in an ice bath. NaBH₄ was added drop-wise (about 10-20 drops) to the stirring solution until it turned a dark brown color, indicating formation of a suspension. Thirty mL of acetone, used as an anti-solvent to precipitate the nanoparticles before centrifugation, was added to the 10 mL suspension. The suspension was centrifuged (Beckman J2-21 centrifuge, USA) at 10,000xg (JA-10 rotor) for 15 minutes. Afterwards, the supernatant was decanted.

The Ag NPs were washed in DDI water. The Ag NPs were resuspended and vortexed in 5 mL DDI water at pH 9, adjusted by adding a small amount of diluted sodium hydroxide. Finally, the Ag NPs were suspended and dispersed uniformly in pH 9

DDI water by sonicating the suspension for 5 minutes in a bath sonicator (Branson 3510, Danbury, CT). The suspension was stored in the dark at room temperature for experimental use for up to 3 weeks. After 3 weeks, the Ag NPs began to aggregate. Ag NPs were disposed of through Environmental Health and Safety.

3.2.1 Concentration Determination

The total silver concentration of the synthesized Ag NPs was measured using an Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) Optical Emission Spectrometer (Varian 710-ES, Mulgrave, Victoria, Australia). The detection limit of silver for the Varian 710-ES ICP was 0.8 µg/L (Robinson and Calderon, 2010). A standard curve was prepared with known concentrations of silver, using silver nitrate. Ten mL of each Ag concentration, 0, 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 15 and 20 mg/L, were prepared in 15-mL BD FalconTM conical tubes. These concentrations were prepared by diluting a stock solution of 1 g/L Ag. Each 10-mL dilution, including the blank, was acidified with concentrated nitric acid to achieve a 2% by volume nitric acid solution for the silver to remain dissolved in solution.

To measure the silver concentration present in the Ag NP solution, 1 mL of the Ag NP stock solution was digested with 3 mL of concentrated nitric acid. Six mL of DDI water was added to create a total solution volume of 10 mL. The particles were digested in acid for about 30 minutes before analysis. The solutions were analyzed by measuring the absorbance at wavelengths of 241, 328, and 338 nm with the ICP Optical Emission Spectrometer. Using the standard curve, the total silver concentration of the Ag NP stock solution was determined.

3.2.2 Size Determination

The size of the synthesized Ag NPs was characterized previously using Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM), UV-vis spectrophotometry, and Dynamic Light Scattering (DLS) (Nguyen Phung-Ngoc, 2010).

3.3 MEDIA PREPARATION

The following sections describe the preparation of the media used for each step of the experimental process, bacteria culturing, and tolerance assays. For all media chosen for these tolerance experiments, there is a balance between using a medium with suitable buffering capacity and a medium that, due to its ionic strength, would increase aggregation and precipitation rates of Ag NPs.

3.3.1 Minimal Davis Medium

Minimal Davis (MD) medium for the culturing of the bacteria was made by reducing the potassium phosphate concentration of Davis media by 90 percent (Lyon et al., 2006). This medium was chosen because the lower phosphate concentrations prevented aggregation and precipitation of certain nanoparticles (Lyon et al., 2006).

The media was prepared by dissolving 0.7 g of K_2HPO_4 , 0.2 g of KH_2PO_4 , 1 g of $(NH_4)_2SO_4$, 0.5 g of sodium citrate, and 0.1 g MgSO₄·7H₂O in 950 mL of DDI water. The solution was mixed well and autoclaved. After the autoclaved solution was cooled to room temperature, 50 mL of the glucose stock solution (10 g of glucose in 500 mL of DDI water) was added to give a final glucose concentration of 1 g/L in the MD medium. The glucose stock solution was mixed well and filtered through a 0.2-µm membrane to sterilize.

3.3.2 Phosphate Buffered Saline

Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was the medium used in the Ag NPs tolerance assay. A 10X PBS solution was prepared by dissolving 80 g NaCl, 2 g KCl, 11.5 g Na₂HPO₄·7H₂O, and 2 g KH₂PO₄ in 1L of DDI water (Ausubel et al., 2003). The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.3. A 1X PBS solution was prepared by diluting 100 mL of the 10X PBS to 1 L using DDI water. These solutions were sterilized by autoclaving and were stored at room temperature. NaCl and KCl in the 1L 10X PBS solution were replaced with 118.738 g NaNO₃ for the silver ion tolerance assays.

3.3.3 Luria-Bertani Agar Plates

Luria-Bertani (LB) agar plates were utilized for plate counts. Twenty-five grams (25 g) of LB and 16 g of agar were dissolved in 1 L of DDI water. Miller's LB recipe is 10 g/L tryptone, 5 g/L yeast extract and 10 g/L NaCl. The solution was autoclaved and allowed to cool in a 60°C water bath for 15 to 20 minutes before the plates were poured. The plates were dried overnight and stored at 4°C.

3.3.4 Nutrient Broth

Nutrient broth was used to culture the *Z. ramigera* from the freezer stock prior to inoculation of the reactor. Nutrient broth contains 5 g/L peptone, 3 g/L beef extract and 5 g/L NaCl.

3.4 Spinning-Disk Chemostat Reactor

The following sections describe the preparations for running the spinning-disk chemostat reactor. The spinning-disk chemostat reactor allows for the simultaneous

culture of planktonic and biofilm cells. Figure 3.1 shows a schematic of the spinning-disk chemostat reactor. The reactor system was autoclaved to sterilize the system prior to the addition of 750 mL of influent MD medium into a 2000-mL flask. A peristaltic pump pumped the medium into the chemostat reactor at a rate of 0.3 mL per minute. The chemostat reactor holds 250 mL of MD medium in which the planktonic and biofilm cells were cultured at room temperature, approximately 25°C. Filters (0.2-µm) in the stoppers of the influent medium flask and chemostat reactor were used for sterile gas exchange. The biofilm cultures were grown using the spinning-disk.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of spinning-disk reactor set-up

3.4.1 Spinning-Disk

Figure 3.2 shows a schematic of the spinning-disk. The polycarbonate spinningdisk contains 18 slots, into which 4-mm long, 3-mm wide, and 1.5-mm thick polycarbonate chips are placed and held in place by red silicone rubber tabs. The chips are the substrate onto which the biofilm cells attach. Prior to each use, the chips were washed once with ethanol, 3 times with DDI water, and then fit into the spinning-disk. The spinning-disk was wrapped in foil, placed into a pipet tip box, and autoclaved.



Figure 3.2: Schematic of spinning-disk

3.4.2 Biofilm and Planktonic Cell Culture Preparation

Two species of bacteria were used in these experiments: a gram-positive *Rhodococcus* isolate (strain B15) from previously operated biologically active carbon (BAC) filters treating tap water (Davidson et al., 2011) and a gram-negative *Zoogloea ramigera* strain (I-16-M) from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, 19623). Cells from the freezer stock of the *Rhodococcus* isolate or *Z. ramigera* were struck on LB plates to select an individual colony and to ensure there was no contamination in the freezer stock. A colony of the *Rhodococcus* isolate or *Z. ramigera* was used to inoculate a test tube with 5 mL of LB or Nutrient Broth medium, respectively, at 30°C. A 5-mL culture of the *Rhodococcus* isolate or *Z. ramigera* was allowed to grow aerobically overnight. One mL of the 5-mL culture was used to inoculate the batch reactor, which

contained 250 mL of MD medium. Thus, the reactor was first used to culture planktonic cells.

The solution in the batch reactor was well-mixed using a Teflon stir bar and allowed to grow overnight for 24 hours without turning on the pump. After 24 hours of growth, the pump was turned on, and the system became a chemostat. Planktonic cells grew in the chemostat overnight. The following day, the stir bar was aseptically removed and replaced with the spinning-disk. The spinning-disk allowed for the cultivation of biofilms on the 18 polycarbonate chips and also functioned to mix the solution. The biofilm and planktonic cells were allowed to grow for 24 hours before removal for the tolerance assays. A 1-mL sample of the planktonic culture and the spinning-disk (with biofilms attached to the chips) were taken out of the reactor.

3.5 TOLERANCE ASSAYS

Tolerance assays of planktonic and biofilm cultures were carried out for different Ag NP concentrations over an exposure period of 5 hours. A tolerance assay tests how many viable cells remain after exposure to Ag NPs. Tolerance assays were carried out in triplicate for each chemostat set-up. Each tolerance assay is comprised of duplicate planktonic and biofilm insults.

3.5.1 Silver Nanoparticle Concentrations

1X PBS was used to dilute the Ag NP stock concentration to 25000 μ g/L, 12500 μ g/L, 6250 μ g/L, 3125 μ g/L, 1563 μ g/L, 781 μ g/L, 391 μ g/L, 195 μ g/L, 97.7 μ g/L, 48.8 μ g/L, 24.4 μ g/L, 12.2 μ g/L, 6.10 μ g/L, and 3.05 μ g/L to test *Z. ramigera*. Ag NP concentrations used to test the *Rhodococcus* isolate were 25000 μ g/L, 12500 μ g/L, 6250

μg/L, 3125 μg/L, 1563 μg/L, 1000 μg/L, 781 μg/L, 500 μg/L, 391 μg/L, 250 μg/L, 125 μg/L, 62.5 μg/L, 31.25 μg/L, and 15.625 μg/L.



Figure 3.3: Microtiter plate used for Ag NP dilutions

The dilutions were prepared by adding 100 μ L of 1X PBS into rows B through H for the first four columns of a 96-well microtiter plate (Figure 3.3). In row A, an appropriate amount of Ag NP stock suspension was diluted to achieve a concentration of 25000 μ g/L or desired highest concentration for a total volume of 200 μ L in the microtiter well. The wells in row A were mixed, and 100 μ L from row A was transferred to the well in row B so each dilution resulted in one half of the previous concentration. These dilutions were carried out until row G. One hundred μ L from row G were transferred to waste, and row H was left with 100 μ L of 1X PBS only (0 μ g/L Ag NPs) for the control.

3.5.2 Planktonic and Biofilm Exposure

To ensure that the same number of planktonic and biofilm cells were exposed to Ag NPs in order to have comparable results for the tolerance assays, the planktonic and biofilm cells were enumerated via plate counts. These experiments with the *Rhodococcus* isolate and *Z. ramigera* showed that the absolute number of biofilm cells on a chip and the number of planktonic cells in a 10- μ L aliquot from the chemostat were the same.

Exposure of the cells to each concentration of Ag NPs was carried out by adding 10 μ L of the planktonic sample to each well in columns 1 and 2 of the microtiter plate, and adding a biofilm chip to each well in columns 4 and 5 of the microtiter plate (Figure 3.3); this resulted in duplicate tolerance assays at each Ag NP concentration.

The microtiter plate was incubated at 30°C for 5 hours. Afterwards, the chips were transferred into 1 mL of 1X PBS in eppendorf tubes, and 100 μ L of planktonic cells from the microtiter plate were added to 900 μ L of 1X PBS in eppendorf tubes. All the eppendorf tubes were sonicated for 10 minutes with a water bath sonicator (Branson 3510, Danbury, CT) and then briefly vortexed. This step is to remove biofilm cells from the chip and to resuspend the biofilm and planktonic cells in PBS.

3.5.3 Dilutions and Plating

Cells from the 1-mL eppendorf tubes described above were used for plate counts. Ten μ L of cells from an eppendorf tube were mixed with 90 μ L of 1X PBS in a new microtiter plate, and this was serially diluted up to 10⁻⁵. Ten microliter spots of each dilution (For biofilms, 10⁰ – 10⁻⁵ dilutions – cells from the microtiter plate; for planktonic cells, 10⁻¹ – 10⁻⁶ dilutions – cells from the microtiter plate) were plated in duplicate on LB plates. The plates were sectioned into 6 areas so that duplicates of each dilution for a particular Ag NP concentration could be plated onto a single plate. The LB plates were incubated at 30°C for 36 hours before the colony forming units (CFU) were counted. The steps are summarized in Figure 3.4 below.





Figure 3.4: Summary of reactor set-up and tolerance assays

3.5.4 Germination with Silver Nanoparticles

To test whether the cells had increased tolerance after previous exposure to a sublethal Ag NP dose, planktonic cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate and *Z. ramigera* were grown in the chemostat reactor containing a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs. The sub-lethal concentration was determined in the previous tolerance assays (Sections 3.5.1 -3.5.3). In this research, a sub-lethal concentration was the concentration of Ag NPs that did not kill the cells after the 5-hour exposure period (as measured by plate counts). For the *Rhodococcus* isolate, the sub-lethal concentration was 391 µg/L. For *Z. ramigera*, the sub-lethal concentration was 3.05 µg/L. This concentration of Ag NPs was added to the influent MD medium in the spinning-disk reactor. The planktonic cells were grown in a batch reactor in the presence of the sub-lethal concentration before turning on the pump for chemostat conditions and insertion of the spinning-disk. After growing biofilms and planktonic cells for 24 hours, the spinning-disk and an aliquot of planktonic cells were removed. The tolerance assays (Sections 3.5.1 - 3.5.3) were performed for these cells that were germinated in the presence of Ag NPs.

3.6 DOUBLING TIME DETERMINATION

The doubling time is the time required for a bacterial population to double during exponential growth. The doubling time for each bacterium was determined to ensure that the flow rate (equation 3.1) in the spinning-disk reactor was appropriate (i.e., the planktonic cells were not washing out of the reactor).

 $Q = D_{crit} \times V$

Equation 3.1: Flow rate

where Q is the maximum flow rate allowable before the washing out of cells occurs, D_{crit} is the critical dilution rate, and V is the culture volume. The critical dilution rate (D_{crit}) at steady state is defined in equation 3.2.

$$D_{crit} = \frac{ln2}{t_d}$$

Equation 3.2: Dilution rate

where t_d is the doubling time.

To determine this doubling time, the cells were inoculated from freezer stock into sterile 250-mL flasks containing 50 mL of MD medium. The flasks were shaken at room temperature, approximately 25°C. Cell growth was measured via the absorbance at 600 nm (A600 nm) using a spectrophotometer. Measurements were taken every one or two hours in triplicate. The natural log of the average absorbance was graphed as a function of time. The slope of the graph during the exponential growth phase was used to calculate the doubling time, using equation 3.3 (Tovey and Brouty-Boyé, 1979).

$$t_d = \frac{ln2}{\mu_{max}}$$

Equation 3.3: Doubling time

where t_d is the doubling time and μ_{max} is the maximum specific growth rate constant (slope of the plot of natural log of absorbance versus time). The doubling times for germination in the presence and absence of Ag NPs were determined and compared to see the impact of Ag NPs on bacterial growth.

3.7 SILVER ION SHEDDING EXPERIMENTS

To look at the toxicity of silver ions against *Escherichia coli* (ATCC, 25922), tolerance assays were carried out using a different PBS formula. The new PBS formula (called PBS-NO₃⁻) replaced the chloride in standard PBS with nitrate, while still maintaining an ionic strength of 1.4 M. PBS-NO₃⁻ was used to prevent the precipitation and complexation of silver ions and chloride, so that any silver ions shed from the Ag NPs were readily available to attack the cells. Chloride forms a strong complex with silver, while nitrate does not. Therefore, in the presence of chloride, free silver ions can precipitate or complex with chloride, leaving few free silver ions available to interact with the bacteria. In the case of nitrate, most of the silver will remain as free silver ions, and still be available to interact with the bacteria. The components of standard PBS and PBS-NO₃⁻ are tabulated below in Table 3.1.

	Standard 10X PBS	10X PBS-NO3 ⁻
Chemical	Amount (g)	Amount (g)
NaCl	80	0
KCl	2	0
NaNO ₃	0	118.8
Na ₂ HPO ₄ 7H ₂ O	11.5	11.5
KH ₂ PO ₄	2	2

Table 3.1: 10X PBS using chloride or nitrate

In both PBS formulae, the pH was adjusted to 7.3. The 10X PBS was diluted to 1X PBS and autoclaved for used in the tolerance assays.

3.7.1 Bacterial Culture Preparation

A freezer stock of *E. coli* cells was streaked onto LB plates. An isolated colony was used to inoculate a test tube containing 5 mL MD medium. The planktonic cells were grown aerobically with shaking at 30°C. For these experiments with silver ions, only planktonic cells were used.

3.7.2 Organic Compound Removal

The impact of organic material in the MD medium on silver ion toxicity was tested. The planktonic cells from the liquid culture were washed twice with 1X standard PBS or PBS-NO₃⁻. This was done by transferring 1mL of planktonic cells from the test tube to a sterile 1.5-mL eppendorf tube. This sample was centrifuged at 5000xg for 5 minutes. A pipette was used to carefully remove and discard the supernatant, leaving the cell pellet as dry as possible. The cells were re-suspended and vortexed in 1000 μ L of 1X standard PBS or PBS-NO₃⁻. Another round of centrifugation and resuspension was carried out for the cells, and final resuspension was done in 500 μ L of 1X standard PBS

or PBS-NO₃⁻. Controls (without washing the cells in standard PBS or PBS-NO₃⁻) also were prepared.

3.7.3 Tolerance Assays

The tolerance assays were carried out with the same method as described in Section 3.5, except that silver ions were dosed instead of Ag NPs. Also, both 1X standard PBS, containing chloride, and PBS- NO_3^- were used for the tolerance assays to look at the influence of free silver ions and aqueous silver chloride complexes on silver (dosed as Ag⁺ or Ag NPs) toxicity.

Chapter 4: Results and Discussion

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The following sections present the results from the Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) analysis of silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) and the Ag NP tolerance assays on a *Rhodococcus* isolate and *Zoogloea ramigera*. This chapter also presents results from the experiments investigating silver ion shedding as a possible toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs. Size characterization of the Ag NPs was done previously by the research group. Results from the size characterization studies will be used but will not be presented in depth in this thesis.

4.2 SILVER NANOPARTICLE SIZE AND CONCENTRATION

Table 4.1 shows a summary of Ag NP size in distilled deionized (DDI) water, Minimal Davis (MD) medium, phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and a mixture of PBS and MD medium as measured by transmission electron microscopy (TEM), UV-vis spectrophotometry, and dynamic light scattering (DLS) (Nguyen Phung-Ngoc, 2010).

		UV-vis	
Ag NPs Sample	TEM	Spectrophotometry	DLS
	(size range, nm)	(avg. size, nm)	(avg. size, nm)
DDI water	3-10	5	9
MD medium	5-50	8	800
PBS	11-50	N/A	400
Standard PBS and	10-50	N/A	190
MD medium			

Table 4.1: Size characterization of Ag NPs (Nguyen Phung-Ngoc, 2010)

These data show that the range of Ag NP sizes is dependent on the medium in which the particles are suspended. They also show that the measured sizes of the NPs in solutions that might be expected to cause agglomeration (e.g., PBS) are inconsistent between measurement methods. These inconsistencies currently are being examined by the research group. We believe that the Ag NPs are agglomerating in MD medium and PBS, and an accurate size characterization is pending. Since nanoparticle size depends on background water chemistry, the extent to which each toxicity mechanism contributes to microbial inhibition or death likely also varies based on background water chemistry. Ag NP toxicity has been studied in all ranges of media, including DDI water, LB medium, and MD medium (Morones et al., 2005; Choi et al., 2008). Morones et al. (2005) found that Ag NP toxicity is highly dependent on the particle size. The dependency of Ag NP size on medium composition suggests that it is unwise to directly compare results of Ag NP toxicity from previous studies in different media.

Figure 4.1 (a) through (c) presents the standard curves for silver concentrations at wavelengths of 241, 328, and 338 nm, respectively, using the Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) Optical Emission Spectrometer. The abscissa is the absorbance measured at the corresponding wavelength, and the ordinate is the concentration of silver. Using the average of the total silver concentrations determined using the three standard curves, the silver concentrations of the stock Ag NPs was approximately 250 mg/L for each stock solution prepared. It is important to note here that the concentration determined using the ICP includes both the reduced silver found in the Ag NPs and any dissolved silver ions in the nanoparticle suspension.



Figure 4.1: Standard curves for silver concentrations from ICP

4.3 DOUBLING TIME

This section reports the doubling times of the *Rhodococcus* isolate and *Z*. *ramigera* in MD medium at room temperature (~25°C) with and without the presence of a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs. Doublings times were measured to determine the appropriate flow rate for the spinning-disk bioreactor (Section 3.6). The sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs were determined from the tolerance assays (Section 3.5.4), and are defined as the highest concentration of Ag NPs at which the bacteria did not demonstrate growth inhibition. For the *Rhodococcus* isolate, the sub-lethal concentration is 391 μ g/L. For *Z. ramigera*, the sub-lethal concentration is 3.05 μ g/L.

4.3.1 Doubling Time of *Rhodococcus* Isolate without Ag NPs

Figure 4.2 shows a growth curve for the *Rhodococcus* isolate in the absence of Ag NPs. The slope in the exponential growth phase represents the maximum specific growth rate constant, μ_{max} . Therefore, using equation 3.3, the doubling time for the *Rhodococcus* isolate, determined from three growth curve replicates, is approximately 6.1 hours.



Figure 4.2: Growth curve of the *Rhodococcus* isolate in the absence of Ag NPs

4.3.2 Doubling Time of Z. ramigera without Ag NPs

Figure 4.3 shows the growth curve for *Z. ramigera* in the absence of Ag NPs. Using the slope in the exponential growth phase as the maximum specific growth rate constant, μ_{max} , and equation 3.3, the doubling time is approximately 4.4 hours.



Figure 4.3: Growth curve of Z. ramigera in the absence of Ag NPs

4.3.3 Doubling Time of Rhodococcus Isolate in 391 µg/L Ag NPs

Figure 4.4 shows a growth curve for the *Rhodococcus* isolate in the presence of 391 μ g/L Ag NPs. Using the slope as the maximum specific growth rate constant, μ_{max} , and equation 3.3, the doubling time for the *Rhodococcus* isolate growing in the presence of the sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs is 4.4 hours. In the presence of Ag NPs, the *Rhodococcus* isolate's doubling time decreased by 1.7 hours compared to the isolate growing in the absence of Ag NPs. However, the lag phase increased significantly from 10 hours to about 30 hours.



Figure 4.4: Growth curve of the *Rhodococcus* isolate in the presence of 391 µg/L Ag NPs

4.3.4 Doubling Time of Z. ramigera in 3.05 µg/L Ag NPs

Figure 4.5 shows the growth curve for *Z. ramigera* growing in the presence of $3.05 \ \mu g/L \ Ag \ NPs$, the sub-lethal concentration. Using the slope as the maximum specific growth rate constant, μ_{max} , and equation 3.3, the doubling time is approximately 7.8 hours. The doubling time of *Z. ramigera* growing in the presence of Ag NPs increased from the doubling time in the absence of Ag NPs (4.4 hours). The lag phase for *Z. ramigera* also increased significantly from approximately 10 hours to 30 hours when grown in the presence of the sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs.



Figure 4.5: Growth curve of Z. ramigera in the presence of 3.05 µg/L Ag NPs

4.4 TOLERANCE ASSAYS

This section presents the data from the tolerance assays of biofilm and planktonic cultures of the *Rhodococcus* isolate and *Z. ramigera*. Each data set and the standard deviation error bars were produced by running the spinning-disk chemostat reactor twice (biological duplicates). Three tolerance assays were carried out from each biological duplicate, producing six replicates in total for each bacterium. This section is split into two parts: the first part presents tolerance data without previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs; the second part presents tolerance data with previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs.

Below, the detection limits (DL) for colony forming units (CFU) for biofilm (equation 4.1) and planktonic cells (equation 4.2) are defined. Data that fell below the DL were plotted on the graphs as half of the DL.

$$DL_{biofilms} = \frac{1 \ CFU}{V_1} \times \frac{V_o}{DF} = \frac{1 \ CFU}{10 \ \mu L \times 10^0} \times 1000 \ \mu L = 100 \ CFU$$

Equation 4.1: Detection limit of biofilm CFU

$$DL_{planktonic} = \frac{1 \ CFU}{V_1} \times \frac{V_o}{DF} = \frac{1 \ CFU}{10 \ \mu L \times (10^{-1})} \times 110 \ \mu L = 110 \ CFU$$

Equation 4.2: Detection limit of planktonic CFU

where 1 CFU/ V₁ represents the minimum number of CFU (1) that can be detected per volume of diluted sample that is plated (10 μ L); V_o is the volume of PBS in which the cells are re-suspended after exposure to Ag NPs (1000 μ L for biofilm cells and 110 μ L for planktonic cells); and DF is the smallest dilution factor of plated cells The chip containing the biofilm cells is added to 1000 μ L of PBS, yielding a DF of 10⁰. One hundred μ L of the planktonic sample is added to 900 μ L of PBS, yielding a DF of 10⁻¹.

4.4.1 Tolerance of Rhodococcus Isolate

Figure 4.6 shows the tolerance of planktonic and biofilm cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate to Ag NPs. The figure suggests that as the Ag NP concentration increases from 0 to 25000 μ g/L, the ability of the *Rhodococcus* isolate to survive the 5-hour Ag NP insult decreases such that the viable cells remaining decrease about two orders of magnitude from 10⁵ CFU to 10³ CFU. Therefore, planktonic and biofilm cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate decrease in tolerance with increasing concentrations of Ag NPs.



Figure 4.6: Tolerance of *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs (Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

The figure indicates that the *Rhodococcus* isolate biofilm cells exhibited only a slightly higher tolerance to Ag NPs than did the planktonic cells, which is likely due to the slightly higher initial concentration of biofilm cells as compared to planktonic cells in the assay. These results show that there is no striking protective effect of biofilms as compared to planktonic cells, in contrast to what we expected based on the much higher tolerance and resistance of biofilms to antibiotics and dissolved heavy metals (Nickel et al., 1985; Stewart and Costerton, 2001). From the figure, the sub-lethal concentration, defined as the highest Ag NP concentration that did not reduce growth by the cells after the 5-hour insult with Ag NPs, was 391 µg/L.

These results from a drinking water isolate of *Rhodococcus* suggest that Ag NPs can affect bacteria in drinking water treatment systems. However, a significant decrease in tolerance for the *Rhodococcus* isolate occurred at 500 μ g/L of Ag NPs, which is a concentration that is much higher than the expected background concentration in a drinking water system. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) secondary drinking water standard for silver is 100 μ g/L.

4.4.2 Tolerance of Z. ramigera

Figure 4.7 shows the tolerance of planktonic and biofilm cells of *Z. ramigera*, a common floc-forming bacterium in activated sludge, to Ag NPs. The figure shows that as the Ag NP concentration increases from 0 to 25000 μ g/L, the ability of *Z. ramigera* to survive the 5-hour Ag NP insult decreases such that the viable cells remaining decrease by several orders of magnitude, from 10⁵ CFU to below the DL. Therefore, planktonic and biofilm cells of *Z. ramigera* decrease in tolerance with increasing concentrations of Ag NPs. In fact, *Z. ramigera* reaches the DL at about 781 μ g/L Ag NPs.



Figure 4.7: Tolerance of *Z. ramigera* planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs (Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

The decrease in tolerance of *Z. ramigera* with increasing concentrations of Ag NPs suggest that Ag NPs might impact *Z. ramigera* in activated sludge and potentially affect their treatment capabilities in the activated sludge process. Hu et al. (2010) found that a shock loading experiment using a simulated activated sludge model resulted in a peak total silver, including silver ions and Ag NPs, of 0.75 mg/L. Examining this concentration (0.75 mg/L) in Figure 4.7, *Z. ramigera* is already below the DL. Furthermore, Hu et al. (2010) used this model to show that total silver, including Ag NPs, can be washed out of the activated sludge process after 25 days; however, Benn and Westerhoff (2008) reported that Ag NPs can easily accumulate in activated sludge at wastewater treatment plants. Thus, while Figure 4.7 shows the tolerance of bacteria after

only 5 hours of exposure, bacterial exposure to Ag NPs might be longer in a real system and the impact of Ag NPs on *Z. ramigera* might be more detrimental.

Figure 4.7 shows that at Ag NP concentrations between 3.05 and 195 µg/L, biofilm cells of *Z. ramigera* demonstrated a slightly higher tolerance to Ag NPs as compared to planktonic cells. However, these results show that there is no striking protective effect of biofilms as compared to planktonic cells, in contrast to what we expected based on the much higher tolerance and resistance of biofilms to antibiotics and dissolved heavy metals (Nickel et al., 1985; Stewart and Costerton, 2001). One potential explanation for these results is that *Z. ramigera* is a floc-forming bacterium. When the planktonic cells were exposed to Ag NPs in these experiments, they were present as flocs and not individual cells. Flocs and biofilms share similar properties, including the presence of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) (Wingender and Flemmig, 1999). Moreover, Zhoa and Bai (2009) found that yeast flocs exhibited higher tolerance when subjected to ethanol shock treatment compared to single cells.

Figure 4.7 indicates that 3.05 μ g/L is a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration for *Z. ramigera*. *Z. ramigera* demonstrates a decrease in tolerance at much lower Ag NP concentrations than observed with the *Rhodococcus* isolate (Section 4.4.1) and *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* (Nguyen Phung-Ngoc, 2010). However, the initial biomass in the tolerance assay for *Z. ramigera* in the absence of Ag NPs was 10⁵ CFU, which is about 10 and 100 times lower than those in the tolerance assays for *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*, respectively.

4.4.3 Tolerance of *Rhodococcus* Isolate after Previous Exposure to 391 µg/L Ag NPs

Figure 4.8 shows the tolerance of planktonic and biofilm cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate after being cultured in the spinning-disk reactor in the presence of the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L for 6 to 7 doubling times.



Figure 4.8: Tolerance of *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs with previous exposure to sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μg/L

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

The figure shows that as the Ag NP concentration increases from 0 to 25000 μ g/L, the ability of the pre-exposed *Rhodococcus* isolate to survive the 5-hour Ag NP insult decreases such that the viable cells remaining decrease several orders of magnitude, from 10⁵ CFU to below the DL. Therefore, planktonic and biofilm cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate decrease in tolerance with increasing concentrations of Ag NPs. As discussed next, these data differ from the tolerance without previous exposure to a sublethal Ag NP concentration. The planktonic cells are slightly more tolerant to Ag NPs than are biofilm cells after previous exposure to 391 μ g/L of Ag NPs. Without previous

exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration, biofilm cells exhibited only a slightly higher tolerance to Ag NPs than planktonic cells. These results show that there is no striking protective effect of biofilms as compared to planktonic cells.

Figure 4.9 compares the tolerance of the *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic cells to Ag NPs when the cells are cultured in the absence of Ag NPs to when they are cultured in the presence of a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L for 6 to 7 doubling times. The figure suggests that the tolerance of the *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic cells to Ag NPs decreases after being cultured at the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L. Prolonged stressed caused by Ag NPs might have caused the *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic cells to decrease their ability to survive exposure to higher concentrations of Ag NPs.



Figure 4.9: Comparison between the tolerances of *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic cells, with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 µg/L

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

Figure 4.10 compares the tolerance of the *Rhodococcus* isolate biofilm cells to Ag NPs when the cells are cultured in the absence of Ag NPs to when they are cultured in the presence of a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L for 6 to 7 doubling times.



Figure 4.10: Comparison between the tolerances of *Rhodococcus* isolate biofilm cells, with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of $391 \ \mu g/L$

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

The figure shows that the tolerance of the *Rhodococcus* isolate biofilm cells to Ag NPs also decreases after being cultured at the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 391 μ g/L. Similar to the planktonic cells, prolonged stressed caused by Ag NPs might have caused the *Rhodococcus* isolate biofilm cells to decrease their ability to survive exposure to higher concentrations of Ag NPs.

4.4.4 Tolerance of Z. ramigera after Exposure to 3.05 µg/L Ag NPs

Figure 4.11 shows the tolerance of planktonic and biofilm cells of *Z. ramigera* after being cultured in the spinning-disk reactor in the presence of the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of $3.05 \ \mu g/L$ for 6 to 7 doubling times.



Figure 4.11: Tolerance of *Z. ramigera* planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag NPs with previous exposure to sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 µg/L

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

The figure shows that as the Ag NP concentration increases from 0 to 25000 μ g/L, the ability of *Z. ramigera* biofilm and planktonic cells to survive the 5-hour Ag NP insult decreases such that the viable cells remaining decrease several orders of magnitude, from 10⁴ CFU to below the DL. Therefore, planktonic and biofilm cells of the *Z. ramigera* decrease in tolerance with increasing concentrations of Ag NPs.

Figure 4.12 compares the tolerance of *Z. ramigera* planktonic cells to Ag NPs when the cells are cultured in the absence of Ag NPs to when they are cultured in the

presence of a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L for 6 to 7 doubling times. The figure suggests that the tolerance of *Z. ramigera* planktonic cells to Ag NPs changes slightly after being cultured at the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L. The data also show that at Ag NP concentrations of about 195 μ g/L to 781 μ g/L, planktonic cells after previous exposure are slightly more tolerant to Ag NPs. Hence, after previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs, the planktonic cells are tolerant of higher Ag NP concentrations than are planktonic cells without previous exposure to Ag NPs.



Figure 4.12: Comparison between the tolerances of *Z. ramigera* planktonic cells, with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)
Figure 4.13 compares the tolerance of *Z. ramigera* biofilm cells to Ag NPs when the cells are cultured in the absence of Ag NPs to when they are cultured in the presence of a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L for 6 to 7 doubling times. The figure shows that the tolerance of *Z. ramigera* biofilm cells to Ag NPs also changes slightly after being cultured at the sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μ g/L. The data show that at Ag NP concentrations of about 195 μ g/L to 1563 μ g/L, biofilms after previous exposure are slightly more tolerant to Ag NPs. Hence, after previous exposure to a sublethal concentration of Ag NPs, the biofilm cells are tolerant of higher Ag NP concentrations than are biofilm cells without previous exposure to Ag NPs.



Figure 4.13: Comparison between the tolerances of *Z. ramigera* biofilm cells, with and without previous exposure to a sub-lethal Ag NP concentration of 3.05 μg/L

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

4.5 EFFECT OF SILVER ION COMPLEXES ON TOLERANCE ASSAYS

This section shows results from the silver ions (Ag^+) tolerance assays of biofilm and planktonic cultures of the *Rhodococcus* isolate. The first part includes an analysis of the effect of the removal of organics from the growth medium prior to the tolerance assays. This is followed by results on how the presence of different ligands, such as chloride (Cl⁻) and nitrate (NO₃⁻), affects the tolerance of *E. coli* planktonic cells toward silver dosed as Ag⁺. Chloride forms several strong aqueous complexes with Ag⁺, while nitrate does not form strong complexes with silver and is highly soluble in water. Since the formation of solid and aqueous complexes depend on the solubility product, these behaviors of silver chloride and silver nitrate can be attributed to their different solubility products, presented in Table 4.2.

 Table 4.2: Silver solubility products (Weast, 1968)

Silver Compound	Solubility Product (M)
Silver Chloride (AgCl)	1.6×10 ⁻¹⁰ (at 25°C)
Silver Nitrate (AgNO ₃)	0.7 (at 0°C)

Using the solubility product of silver chloride, at the highest experimental concentration of Ag^+ (1000 µg/L or 9.3×10^{-6} M) and 0.14 M chloride, the calculated ion product (1.3×10^{-6}) is greater than the solubility product. Therefore, silver chloride precipitation will be formed under these conditions. When the concentration of Ag^+ is less than 0.12 µg/L, the ion product will be less than the solubility product, and hence, no precipitation will be formed. For silver nitrate, the concentration of Ag^+ must exceed 46.4 mg/L for a silver nitrate precipitate to form.

Table 4.3 shows the stability constants of silver chloride species.

Silver Compound	Stability Constants (log β)
AgCl^{0}	3.3
AgCl ₂	5.3
AgCl ₃ ²⁻	6.4

Table 4.3: Silver chloride species stability constants (Morel and Hering, 1993)

Using the stability constants and solubility product of silver chloride, the distribution of silver chloride species can be calculated as a function of chloride concentration. This equilibrium distribution is presented in Figure 4.14, which shows the calculated distribution of silver chloride complexes as a function of the chloride concentration (pCl or $-\log [Cl^-]$). The figure shows that at the studied concentration of 0.14 M chloride or pCl of 0.85 in 1X PBS, silver species exist as 0.009% free silver ions (Ag⁺), 2.5% silver chloride (AgCl⁰), 35.3% AgCl₂⁻, and 62.2% AgCl₃²⁻. Free silver ions are the dominant species only greater than a pCl of 3.5 (< 3.0 × 10⁻⁴ M).



Figure 4.14: Silver species distribution as a function of chloride concentration

In the case of nitrate, most of the Ag^+ will still be present as Ag^+ , as indicated by the high solubility product, and will remain bioavailable. The following sections include results that show how the presence of chloride and nitrate affects the tolerance of *E. coli* planktonic cells to Ag NP.

4.5.1 Rhodococcus Isolate Tolerance to Silver Ions

Figure 4.15 shows the tolerance assay of biofilm and planktonic cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate to Ag^+ using standard IX PBS, which contains chloride. Biofilm and planktonic cells of the *Rhodococcus* isolate appeared highly tolerant of the Ag^+ dose, with the number of biofilm and planktonic cells remaining unchanged after a 5-hour insult with 0 to 1 mg/L Ag^+ . These results indicate that Ag^+ does not have any effect on biofilm and planktonic cultures under the experimental conditions. However, Ag^+ is

known to be toxic to bacteria (Silver, 2003). These results led to several hypotheses. The first one is that the organic compounds from the culturing medium may affect the silver ion toxicity. Bury et al. (2009) found that increasing organic matter concentration decreased silver toxicity in rainbow trout and fathead minnows. Second, the concentration of chloride in the 1X PBS in which the tolerance assays were carried out may have complexed strongly with Ag^+ , making them unavailable to interact with the bacteria. These hypotheses were tested in more detail with *E. coli* planktonic cells.



Figure 4.15: Tolerance of *Rhodococcus* isolate planktonic and biofilm cells to Ag⁺ in standard PBS, containing chloride

(Ag⁺ concentration represents the dosed concentration)

These results indicate that the effect of silver is highly dependent on the water chemistry of the medium, in which the experiments were run (e.g., formation of strong and weak complexes). These results underline a need to test how the water chemistry of the medium can change the toxicity of silver (e.g., effect of organics and presence of ligands), and provide an idea on how to test Ag^+ shedding from Ag NPs as a toxicity mechanism.

4.5.2 Effect of Organics Removal

Figures 4.16 and 4.17 show the effect of the removal of organic material from the Minimal Davis (MD) medium on the tolerance of *E. coli* to Ag^+ in standard PBS and PBS-NO₃⁻), respectively. These results indicate that the removal of organics does not significantly affect the silver ion tolerance assays.



Figure 4.16: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of planktonic *E. coli* cells to Ag^+ in standard PBS, containing chloride

(Ag⁺ concentration represents the dosed concentration)



Figure 4.17: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of planktonic *E. coli* cells to Ag^+ in PBS-NO₃⁻

(Ag⁺ concentration represents the dosed concentration) Please note that the open squares are behind the filled squares for several data points, such that they cannot be seen

Similar results with the effect of organics removal are obtained in the Ag NP tolerance assays. Figures 4.18 and 4.19 show the effect of the removal of organics from the MD medium on the tolerance of *E. coli* to Ag NPs in standard PBS and PBS- NO_3^- , respectively. Once again, the results show that the removal of organics does not significantly affect the Ag NP tolerance assays.



Figure 4.18: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of *E. coli* planktonic cells to Ag NPs in standard PBS, containing chloride





Figure 4.19: Effect of organics removal on the tolerance of *E. coli* planktonic cells to Ag NPs in PBS-NO₃⁻

(Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

4.5.3 E. coli Tolerance Assays with Ag⁺ in Presence of Chloride or Nitrate

Figure 4.20 shows the effect of the presence of 0.14 M chloride (standard PBS) or 0.14 M nitrate (PBS-NO₃⁻) on the tolerance of planktonic *E. coli* cells to Ag^+ . In the presence of chloride, there is no change in the tolerance with increasing silver ion dosage. In contrast, in the presence of nitrate, there is a decrease in tolerance with increasing silver ion dosage. Thus, Ag^+ are toxic to *E. coli*. These data are consistent with the hypothesis that in the presence of chloride, a strong ligand of silver, most of the silver will be complexed with chloride, and become less toxic towards bacteria. Figure 4.14 shows that at 0.14 M chloride, silver species exist at 0.009% free silver ions, and the remaining species are silver chloride complexes. However, in the presence of nitrate, a weaker ligand of silver, most of the silver will still be present as Ag^+ , which is toxic to bacteria (Figure 4.20).



Figure 4.20: Effect of chloride and nitrate on the tolerance of *E. coli* to Ag^+ (Ag^+ concentration represents the dosed concentration)

These results are consistent with findings from Silver (2003), who found that silver toxicity to microorganisms is dependent on the concentration of halide ions, such as chloride, present in the surrounding environment. He found that chloride, present at moderate concentrations, can strongly bind to Ag^+ , leaving silver unavailable to attack the cell membranes of bacteria (Silver, 2003). Therefore, the background water chemistry in which these tolerance assays are carried out can significantly affect the magnitude of silver toxicity.

Ligands present in wastewater treatment, including sulfate, sulfide, chloride, phosphate and EDTA can impact how Ag^+ affects bacteria in these engineered water systems (Hu et al., 2010). Silver toxicity is typically not observed in natural and engineered water systems because the aqueous concentrations of Ag^+ are generally low due to strong complexes formed with various ligands such as chloride, sulfide, thiosulfate, and dissolved organic carbon (Herrin et al., 2001; Choi et al., 2009). Such can be the case of these results showing low toxicity of Ag^+ in the presence of 0.14 M chloride (Figure 4.20). However, studying the toxicity of Ag^+ in the presence of different ligands is important in understanding a commonly hypothesized toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs, which states that in the presence of certain ligands, Ag^+ can be shed from the nanoparticles and be toxic to bacteria.

4.5.4 E. coli Tolerance Assays with Ag NPs in Presence of Chloride or Nitrate

Figure 4.21 shows the effect of the presence of 0.14 M chloride or 0.14 M nitrate on the tolerance assay of planktonic cells of *E. coli* against Ag NPs. These data show a completely opposite effect than that seen with Ag^+ . In the presence of nitrate, there is no change in the tolerance with increasing Ag NP dosage. On the other hand, in the presence

of chloride, there is a decrease in tolerance with increasing Ag NP dosage. These results suggest that due to the different water chemistry and surface chemistry properties of Ag NPs compared to Ag^+ , the presence of different ligands in the exposure medium can significantly impact the tolerance assays.



Figure 4.21: Effect of chloride and nitrate on the tolerance of *E. coli* to Ag NPs (Ag NP concentration represents the dosed concentration)

In a 0.14 M chloride environment, Ag^+ can complex strongly with chloride; the binding of free Ag^+ to chloride causes the toxic Ag^+ to become less bioavailable (Silver, 2003). However, in this same 0.14 M chloride environment, Ag^+ can be brought into solution via ligand-promoted dissolution of Ag NPs. Strong ligands of silver, such as

chloride, can pull the zero-valent Ag NPs into solution as Ag⁺. On the other hand, weaker ligands, such as nitrate, cannot promote the dissolution of Ag NPs into Ag⁺.

These results are verified by the color change that occurred when Ag NPs were added to a 0.14 M chloride solution. These color changes, presented in Figure 4.22, indicate that yellow suspensions of Ag NPs become colorless after exposure to 0.14M chloride after about 10 minutes, while the color does not change in the presence of 0.14 M nitrate. The initial yellow Ag NP solution becoming colorless in the presence of chloride suggests that Ag NPs are pulled into solution as Ag^+ , thus resulting in a lower concentration of Ag NPs and higher concentration of Ag^+ .



Figure 4.22: Color changes of Ag NPs in chloride and nitrate solutions

These results are similar to a Wiley et al. (2004) study, which found that 0.06 mM of chloride as NaCl and KCl promoted the dissolution of 20- to 80-nm Ag NPs to free silver ions. Therefore, at higher chloride concentrations, such as 0.14 M used in these experiments, dissolution of Ag NPs to free silver ions was likely to have occurred. Furthermore, Chappell et al. (2011) found that EDTA-promoted Ag NP dissolution to Ag⁺ occurs through chelation of dissolved silver at low ionic strengths (1 mM). Choi et al. (2009) also found that the inhibition of Ag NPs to *E. coli* did not correlate linearly

with total silver concentrations. These data suggest that Ag^+ can complex with chloride ions present in wastewater and become ineffective towards bacteria.

4.5.5 Silver Ions as Toxicity Mechanism of Ag NPs

Figure 4.23 presents the summary of the effect of chloride and nitrate on silver ion and Ag NP toxicity. In the presence of 0.14 M chloride, dosing Ag^+ does not impact the viability of *E. coli*, but Ag NPs negatively impact *E. coli* viability under these experimental conditions. On the other hand, in the presence of 0.14 M nitrate, the dosing of Ag^+ negatively impacts *E. coli* viability while Ag NPs do not. Therefore, the inactivation of cells by Ag^+ and Ag NPs depends on presence of chloride in the experimental system.



Figure 4.23: Summary of effect of chloride and nitrate on Ag⁺ and Ag NP toxicity to planktonic *E. coli*

(Ag NP or Ag⁺ concentration represents the dosed concentration)

Choi et al. (2008) found that Ag^+ were more toxic than Ag NPs in the presence of nitrate because Ag^+ can generate more reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cell than Ag NPs. Increased ROS levels can then lead to increased damage to cell structures, stress on the bacterial population, and reduced growth rates. These results are consistent with these data, which show that in the presence of 0.14 M nitrate, Ag^+ are more toxic than are Ag NPs.

Sotiriou and Pratsinis (2010) showed that for Ag NPs less than 10 nm, the dominant mechanism of antimicrobial toxicity is the release of Ag^+ in media with 0.17 M chloride. Figure 4.23 suggests that Ag^+ is a possible mechanism of toxicity. Nonetheless, these results also indicate that the main toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs may be different in various media. The ability of Ag NPs to release Ag^+ and the speciations of dissolved silver are highly dependent on the background water chemistry of the medium.

Li et al. (2011) found that the antibacterial toxicity of zinc oxide (ZnO) nanoparticles depends on their complexation species and bioavailability, which changes with the aqueous medium in which the nanoparticles are suspended. The study found that in aqueous media, such as MD, LB, and PBS, free zinc ions are the dominant mechanism of toxicity of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Furthermore, the study showed that medium components such as phosphate, citrate, and organic matter affect the toxicity by influencing the dissolution of the nanoparticles and changing the chemical species of zinc. Therefore, further work is needed to understand the effects of water chemistry on the physiochemical properties and antimicrobial activity of nanoparticles.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Work

5.1 SUMMARY OF RESEARCH FINDINGS

This research examined the tolerance of microorganisms to silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) in planktonic and biofilm cultures relevant to engineered water systems. To our knowledge, no research has been done to look at tolerance of *Zoogloea ramigera*, a common wastewater floc-forming bacterium, and *Rhodococcus*, found in drinking water, to Ag NPs. The results showed that *Z. ramigera* and the *Rhodococcus* isolate decreased in tolerance with increasing Ag NP concentrations (0 to 25000 µg/L) in the presence of 0.14 M chloride. *Z. ramigera* exhibited a lower sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs than did the *Rhodococcus* isolate, suggesting that Ag NPs might be more toxic to *Z. ramigera* than to the *Rhodococcus* isolate.

The results showed that there was no striking protective effect of biofilm cells in either bacterium as compared to planktonic cells, in contrast to previous studies of microbial tolerance to antibiotics and heavy metals. In the case of the *Rhodococcus* isolate, biofilms did not demonstrate a difference in tolerance to Ag NPs compared to planktonic cells. For *Z. ramigera*, biofilms demonstrated a slightly higher tolerance to Ag NPs as compared to planktonic cells at Ag NP concentrations between 3.05 and 195 μ g/L. From 195 to 25000 μ g/L, *Z. ramigera* biofilm and planktonic cells exhibited equal tolerances.

The results of this work have many implications for bacteria in engineered water systems. For a drinking water treatment system, Ag NPs might inactivate desirable biofilms in drinking water treatment processes. The data suggest that the accumulation of Ag NPs may cause detrimental effects on essential microbial populations (e.g., *Z. ramigera*) in wastewater treatment plants. Hence, removal of Ag NPs upstream of activated sludge may be required. For these engineered water systems, Ag NP toxicity

against bacteria in these environments suggest that in the future, more stringent regulations may be needed to protect the integrity of these microbial systems from the harmful effects of Ag NPs.

This project also aimed to investigate the ability of these treatment bacteria to develop increased tolerance after previous exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs. Results showed that the *Rhodococcus* isolate had decreased tolerance to Ag NP as a result of previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs. These result indicated that Ag NPs can be an effective antimicrobial agent for the *Rhodococcus* isolate. However, *Z. ramigera* had increased tolerance to Ag NPs as a result of previous exposure to a sub-lethal concentration of Ag NPs.

Lastly, this research presented experiments and results detailing the possibility of silver ion shedding as a toxicity mechanism of Ag NPs in the presence of a chloride. Under these experimental conditions, it appears that 0.14 M chloride had the ability to promote the dissolution of Ag NPs into free silver ions: a process known as ligand-promoted dissolution. These results were consistent with current literature stating that the antibacterial activity and mechanisms of Ag NP toxicity are highly dependent on the water chemistry of the surrounding environment. The chemical properties of the Ag NP suspension can change the physiochemical properties of the Ag NPs, and thus alter their antibacterial activity. Further work is needed to fully understand how the properties of Ag NPs are altered in real water treatment systems.

5.2 FUTURE WORK

This section identifies the future work of this research, including a discussion on how background water chemistry can lead to physiochemical changes of Ag NPs in laboratory-scale methods to investigate the toxicity of Ag NPs toward organisms and their fate in the environment.

5.2.1 Water Chemistry and Silver Nanoparticles

Further work is needed to understand the toxicity mechanisms of Ag NPs against bacteria. Results from this research reveal that silver ions are a possible mechanism of Ag NP toxicity against *E. coli* via ligand-promoted dissolution in environments containing 0.14 M chloride, but not in 0.14 M nitrate environments. Further investigation is needed to identify ligand-promoted dissolution of silver ions as a possible mechanism of Ag NP toxicity at different concentrations of chloride. For example, typical chloride concentrations at wastewater treatment plants are approximately 9.87 mM, but can range up to 2.14 M, depending on the source of wastewater (Ucisik and Henze, 2004; Renato et al., 2009). In drinking water, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Secondary Drinking Water Regulations recommend a maximum concentration of 250 mg/L of chloride ions or 7.05 mM. Testing Ag NP toxicity in these ranges of chloride will provide more information on the fate, transport and toxicity mechanisms of Ag NPs in real engineered treatment systems.

Due to the antibacterial activity of Ag NPs being highly dependent on the size and shape of the nanoparticles, as well as the chemical properties of the medium in which the Ag NP toxicity studies are carried out, it is important to standardize the protocols for Ag NP synthesis and dispersion. Standardization will allow for comparable results across all research studies on Ag NP toxicity. For instance, Kim et al. (2007) found that grampositive bacteria were more resistant than gram-negative bacteria to 12-nm Ag NPs, while Yoon et al. (2008) found the opposite effect for 40-nm Ag NPs. Therefore, additional research is needed to fully understand how different ligands and other ionic species present in experimental aqueous solutions can alter the physiochemical properties, such as size, shape, surface charges, and silver ion shedding, and antimicrobial properties of differently synthesized Ag NPs.

5.2.2 Electrostatic Interactions between Bacteria and Nanoparticles

Zeta potentials, described as the electrostatic potential at the shear plane between the charged surface and the electrolyte solution or buffer, have been shown to be a feasible tool for understanding the interaction between cells and nanoparticles (Zhang et al., 2008). Zeta potentials on the cell surfaces indicate changes in cell and nanoparticle surface charges during interactions between cells and nanoparticles. Therefore, by measuring Zeta potential as a function of exposure time to Ag NPs, the mechanism of Ag NP toxicity may reveal how different species of bacteria vary in their interactions with nanoparticles. Furthermore, biofilm cells exhibit different cell surface charges and Zeta potential as compared to planktonic cells (De Carvalho et al., 2009). Measuring the Zeta potential changes on these two different types of cells would provide important information regarding how biofilm cells and planktonic cells interact with Ag NPs.

5.2.3 Silver Nanoparticles in Natural Mixed Microbial Communities

Little work has been done to look at the impact of Ag NPs on mixed microbial communities, such as those found in drinking water, wastewater, and water reuse systems. Future work should be carried out to understand how Ag NPs can change the

microbial communities in these systems. This work is significant because changes in the microbial community in water treatment processes can potentially break down the existing biological structure essential for these treatment processes.

5.2.4 Synergistic Effects of Silver Nanoparticles

Little work has been done on the synergistic effects of nanoparticles and other antibacterial agents on microbial toxicity. Li et al. (2005) and Fayaz et al. (2010) found that after exposure to Ag NPs, gram-positive and gram-negative planktonic bacteria were more susceptible to antibiotics. Ruden et al. (2009) showed synergistic effects of Ag NPs with antimicrobial peptides against planktonic gram-negative bacteria. Wu et al. (2009) found that copper nanoparticles enhanced the antimicrobial activity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles, which have a relatively low toxicity in the presence of no sunlight. To our knowledge, no research has been carried out on the synergistic effects of Ag NPs and other antimicrobial agents on biofilm cells. These studies are necessary to understanding the synergistic effects of nanoparticles and other antimicrobial agents on the microbial ecology in natural and built environmental systems.

Appendices

Appendix A List of Materials

Description	Item No.	Vendor
AgNO ₃ (99.99%)	7761888	Sigma-Aldrich
Mercaptosuccinic acid (C ₄ H ₆ O ₄ S)	88450	Sigma-Aldrich
0.22-µm nylon membrane	R92755507	Fisher Scientific
Toluene	AC17716-0025	Fisher Scientific
Eppendorf tubes	5408133	Fisher Scientific
0.22-µm cellulose acetate membrane	430626	Corning, Inc.
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	R00252852	Fisher Scientific
Spinning-Disk and chips		Fabricated at the University of
		Iowa by Mike Neville
Chemostat reactor		Fabricated at the University of
		Texas at Austin by Michael J.
		Ronalter,

Appendix B List of Instruments

Instrument	Brand	Location
TEM	FEI Tecnai Spirit Biotwin,	Institute for Cellular and
	Hillsboro, Oregon	Molecular Biology, UT-Austin
ICP	Varian 710-ES, Mulgrave,	8th floor, ECJ building, UT-
	Victoria, Australia	Austin
Bath sonicator	Branson 3510, Danbury, CT	Dr. Kirisits's lab, ECJ building,
		UT-Austin
Centrifuge	Beckman J2-21 centrifuge,	Dr. Speitel's lab, ECJ building,
	USA	UT-Austin

References

- Abou El-Nour K. M. M., A. Eftaiha, A. Al-Warthan, and R. A. A. Ammar. 2010. Synthesis and applications of silver nanoparticles. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*. 3:135-140.
- Adams L. K., D. Y. Lyon, A. McIntosh, and P. J. J. Alvarez. 2006. Comparative toxicity of nano-scale TiO₂, SiO₂ and ZnO water suspensions. *Water Science and Technology* 54:327-334.
- Aitken R. J., M. Q. Chaudhry, A. B. A. Boxall, and M. Hull. 2006. Manufacture and use of nanomaterials: current status in the UK and global trends. *Occupational Medicine Oxford England. Soc Occupational Med* 56:300-306.
- ASTM E 2456-06 "Terminology for Nanotechnology." ASTM International, 2006.
- Ausubel F. M., R. Brent, R. E. Kingston, D. D. Moore, J. G. Seidman, J. A. Smith, K. Struhl, C. J. Wiley, R. D. Allison, M. Bittner, and S. Blackshaw. 2003. Current protocols in molecular biology. *Molecular Biology*. 1:146-146.
- Ayala-Núñez N. V., H. H. Lara Villegas, L. Carmen Ixtepan Turrent, and C. Rodríguez Padilla. 2009. Silver nanoparticles toxicity and bactericidal effect against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*: nanoscale does matter. *Nanobiotechnology*. 5:2-9.
- Balan L., J.-P. Malval, R. Schneider, and D. Burget. 2007. Silver nanoparticles: new synthesis, characterization and photophysical properties. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*. 104:417-421.
- Bhakat K. K., S. K. Mokkapati, I. Boldogh, T. K. Hazra, and S. Mitra. 2006. Acetylation of human 8-oxoguanine-DNA glycosylase by p300 and its role in 8-oxoguanine repair in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 26:1654-1665.
- Biswas P., and C. Wu. 2005. Critical Review: Nanoparticles and the Environment. Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association. 55:708-746.
- Blaser S., M. Scheringer, M. Macleod, and K. Hungerbühler. 2008. Exposure modeling of nano silver in the environment. *Technology*. 390:1-12.
- Borriello G., E. Werner, F. Roe, A. M. Kim, G. D. Ehrlich, and P. S. Stewart. 2004. Oxygen limitation contributes to antibiotic tolerance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in biofilms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 48:2659-2664.

- Barron, A. R., McHale, M., Orbaek, A., 2009. Silver Nanoparticles: A Case Study in Cutting Edge Research (available at: http://cnx.org/content/m19597/1.8/).
- Braoudaki M., and A. C. Hilton. 2004. Adaptive resistance to biocides in *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* O157 and cross-resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 42:73-78.
- Brar S. K., M. Verma, R. D. Tyagi, and R. Y. Surampalli. 2010. Engineered nanoparticles in wastewater and wastewater sludge--evidence and impacts. *Waste Management*. 30:504-520.
- Bury N. R., F. Galvez, and C. M. Wood. 2009. Effects of chloride, calcium, and dissolved organic carbon on silver toxicity: Comparison between rainbow trout and fathead minnows. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 18:56-62.
- Bury N. R. and C. Hogstrand. 2002. Influence of chloride and metals on silver bioavailability to Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) yolk-sac fry. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 36: 2884–2888.
- Ceri H., M. E. Olson, C. Stremick, R. R. Read, D. Morck, and A. Buret. 1999. The Calgary biofilm device: new technology for rapid determination of antibiotic susceptibilities of bacterial biofilms. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*. 37:1771-1776.
- Chappell, M. A., L. F. Miller, A. J. George, B. A. Pettway, C. L. Price, B. E. Porter, A. J. Bednar, J. M. Seiter, A. J. Kennedy, and J. A. Steevens. 2011. Simultaneous dispersion–dissolution behavior of concentrated silver nanoparticle suspensions in the presence of model organic solutes. *Chemosphere*: article in press.
- Chau J., M. Hsu, C. Hsieh, and C. Kao. 2005. Microwave plasma synthesis of silver nanopowders. *Materials Letters*. 59:905-908.
- Choi M., P. Biswas, H. Fissan, D. Y. H. Pui, 2003. Special issue on nanoparticles: technology and sustainable development; *Journal of Nanoparticle Research*. 5: 2– 3
- Choi O. K., and Z. Q. Hu. 2009. Nitrification inhibition by silver nanoparticles. *Water Science and Technology*. 59:1699-1702.
- Choi O., K. K. Deng, N.-J. Kim, L. Ross, R. Y. Surampalli, and Z. Hu. 2008. The inhibitory effects of silver nanoparticles, silver ions, and silver chloride colloids on microbial growth. *Water Research*. 42:3066-3074.

- Chung, Y. C., Su, Y. P., Chen, C. C., Jia, G., Wang, H. L. and Wu, J. C. G. 2004. Relationship between antibacterial activity of chitosan and surface characteristics of cell wall, *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*. 25: 932–936.
- Cooper, G. M. 2000. The Cell: a Molecular Approach, 2nd edition. ASM Press, Washington D.C.
- Costerton J. W., Z. Lewandowski, D. E. Caldwell, D. R. Korber, and H. M. Lappin-Scott. 1995. Microbial biofilms. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 49:711-745.

Davidson A. N., J. Chee-Sanford, H. Y. Lai, C.-H. Ho, J. B. Klenzendorf, and M. J. Kirisits. 2011. Characterization of bromate-reducing bacterial isolates and their potential for drinking water treatment. *Water Research*: article in press.

- De Beer D., P. Stoodley, and Z. Lewandowski. 1996. Liquid flow and mass transport in heterogeneous biofilms. *Water Research*. 30:2761-2765.
- De Carvalho C., L.Y. Wick, H.J. Heipieper. 2009. Cell wall adaptations of planktonic and biofilm Rhodococcus erythropolis cells to growth on C5 to C16 n-alkane hydrocarbons. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*. 82:311–320
- Diaz-Ravina M., and E. Baath. 1996. Development of metal tolerance in soil bacterial communities exposed to experimentally increased metal levels. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 62:2970-2977.
- Drenkard E. 2003. Antimicrobial resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Microbes and Infection*. 5:1213-1219.
- Dror-Ehre A., H. Mamane, T. Belenkova, G. Markovich, and A. Adin. 2009. Silver nanoparticle-*E. coli* colloidal interaction in water and effect on *E. coli* survival. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*. 339:521-526.
- Dunne W. M. 2002. Bacterial adhesion: seen any good biofilms lately? Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 15:155-166.
- Durán N., P. D. Marcato, G. I. H. De Souza, O. L. Alves, and E. Esposito. 2007. Antibacterial effect of silver nanoparticles produced by fungal process on textile fabrics and their effluent treatment. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology* 3:203-208.
- Evans D. J., D. G. Allison, M. R. Brown, and P. Gilbert. 1991. Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Escherichia coli* biofilms towards ciprofloxacin: effect of specific growth rate. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 27:177-184.

- Fabrega J., J. C. Renshaw, and J. R. Lead. 2009. Interactions of silver nanoparticles with *Pseudomonas putida* biofilms. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 43:9004-9009.
- Fayaz A. M., K. Balaji, M. Girilal, R. Yadav, P. T. Kalaichelvan, and R. Venketesan. 2010. Biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their synergistic effect with antibiotics: a study against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine*. 6:103-109.
- Feng Q. L., J. Wu, G. Q. Chen, F. Z. Cui, T. N. Kim, and J. O. Kim. 2000. A mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*. 52:662-8.
- Flemming H.-C., and J. Wingender. 2010. The biofilm matrix. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 8:623-633.
- Gong P., H. Li, X. He, K. Wang, J. Hu, W. Tan, S. Zhang, and X. Yang. 2007. Preparation and antibacterial activity of Fe₃O₄ Ag nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 18:285604.
- Gopinath P., S. K. Gogoi, A. Paul, A. Ramesh, S. S. Ghosh, and A. Chattopadhyay. 2006. Green fluorescent protein-expressing *Escherichia coli* as a model system for investigating the antimicrobial activities of silver nanoparticles. *Langmuir*. 22:9322-9328.
- Gottschalk F., T. Sonderer, R. W. Scholz, and B. Nowack. 2009. Modeled environmental concentrations of engineered nanomaterials (TiO₂, ZnO, Ag, CNT, Fullerenes) for different regions. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 43:9216-9222.
- Gupta A., M. Maynes, and S. Silver. 1998. Effects of halides on plasmid-mediated silver resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 64: 5042–5045.
- Guzman K. A. D., M. P. Finnegan, and J. F. Banfield. 2006. Influence of surface potential on aggregation and transport of titania nanoparticles. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 40:7688-7693.
- Hall-Stoodley L., J. W. Costerton, and P. Stoodley. 2004. Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 2:95-108.
- Hall-Stoodley L., and P. Stoodley. 2002. Developmental regulation of microbial biofilms. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 13:228-233.

- Harrison J. J., H. Ceri, and R. J. Turner. 2007. Multimetal resistance and tolerance in microbial biofilms. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 5:928-938.
- Holt K. B., and A. J. Bard. 2005. Interaction of silver(I) ions with the respiratory chain of *Escherichia coli*: an electrochemical and scanning electrochemical microscopy study of the antimicrobial mechanism of micromolar Ag. *Biochemistry*. 44:13214-13223.
- Hozumi A., M. Inagaki, and N. Shirahata. 2006. Vapor phase formation of a well-ordered aldehyde-terminated self-assembled monolayer on a SiO₂ surface and formation of silver film on the surface based on the silver mirror reaction. *Surface Science*. 600:4044-4047.
- Hunter R. C., and T. J. Beveridge. 2005. Application of a pH-sensitive fluoroprobe (C-SNARF-4) for pH microenvironment analysis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 71:2501-2510.
- Hussain S. M., K. L. Hess, J. M. Gearhart, K. T. Geiss, and J. J. Schlager. 2005. In vitro toxicity of nanoparticles in BRL 3A rat liver cells. *Toxicology in Vitro*. 19:975-983.
- Hu Z. 2010. Impact of Silver Nanoparticles on Wastewater Treatment, WERF Report U3R07, United States, Water Environment Research Foundation.
- Imlay J. A. 2003. Pathways of oxidative damage. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 57:395-418.
- Inoue M., N. Sakaguchi, K. Isuzugawa, H. Tani, and Y. Ogihara. 2000. Role of reactive oxygen species in gallic acid-induced apoptosis. *Biological Pharmaceutical Bulletin*. 23:1153-1157.
- Isaeva E. I., O. B. Svistunova, V. V. Gorbunova, and T. B. Boitsova. 2007. Photochemical synthesis of gold nanoparticles in elastomer films of poly(butyl acrylate) latex. *Russian Journal of General Chemistry*. 77:2113-2116.
- Jain P., and T. Pradeep. 2005. Potential of silver nanoparticle-coated polyurethane foam as an antibacterial water filter. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*. 90:59-63.
- Johansen A., A. L. Pedersen, K. A. Jensen, U. Karlson, B. M. Hansen, J. J. Scott-Fordsmand, and A. Winding. 2008. Effects of C₆₀ fullerene nanoparticles on soil bacteria and protozoans. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 27:1895-1903.

- Kaegi, R., A. Voegelin, B. Sinnet, S. Zuleeg, H. Hagendorfer, M. Burkhardt, and H. Siegris. 2011. Behavior of metallic silver nanoparticles in a pilot wastewater treatment plant. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 45:3902-3908.
- Kalishwaralal K., V. Deepak, S. Ramkumarpandian, H. Nellaiah, and G. Sangiliyandi. 2008. Extracellular biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles by the culture supernatant of *Bacillus licheniformis*. *Materials Letters*. 62:4411-4413.
- Kawata K., M. Osawa, and S. Okabe. 2009. In vitro toxicity of silver nanoparticles at noncytotoxic doses to HepG2 human hepatoma cells. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 43:6046-6051.
- Kim B., C.-S. Park, M. Murayama, and M. F. Hochella. 2010. Discovery and characterization of silver sulfide nanoparticles in final sewage sludge products. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 44:7509-7514.
- Kim J. S., E. Kuk, K. N. Yu, J.-H. Kim, S. J. Park, H. J. Lee, S. H. Kim, Y. K. Park, Y. H. Park, C.-Y. Hwang, Y.-K. Kim, Y.-S. Lee, D. H. Jeong, and M.-H. Cho. 2007. Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine*. 3:95-101.
- Kjelleberg S., and S. Molin. 2002. Is there a role for quorum sensing signals in bacterial biofilms? *Current Opinion in Microbiology*. 5:254-258.
- Klaine S. J., P. J. J. Alvarez, G. E. Batley, T. F. Fernandes, R. D. Handy, D. Y. Lyon, S. Mahendra, M. J. McLaughlin, and J. R. Lead. 2008. Nanomaterials in the environment: behavior, fate, bioavailability, and effects. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 27:112-118.
- Kohler A., C. Som, A. Helland, and F. Gottschalk. 2008. Studying the potential release of carbon nanotubes throughout the application life cycle. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. 16:927-937.
- Krasner S. W., H. S. Weinberg, S. D. Richardson, S. J. Pastor, R. Chinn, M. J. Sclimenti, G. D. Onstad, and A. D. Thruston. 2006. Occurrence of a new generation of disinfection byproducts. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 40:7175-7185.
- Krutyakov Y. A., A. A. Kudrinskiy, A. Y. Olenin, and G. V. Lisichkin. 2010. Synthesis and properties of silver nanoparticles: advances and prospects. *Russian Chemical Reviews*. 77:233-257.
- Laban G., L. F. Nies, R. F. Turco, J. W. Bickham, and M. S. Sepúlveda. 2010. The effects of silver nanoparticles on fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) embryos. *Ecotoxicology*. 19:185-195.

- Lee D.-Y., C. Fortin, and P. G. C. Campbell. 2004. Influence of chloride on silver uptake by two green algae, *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* and *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 23:1012–1018.
- Lee I. 2008. Quenching dynamics promoted by silver nanoparticles. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry. 195:254–260.
- Lewis K. 2007. Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 5:48-56.
- Li P., J. Li, C. Wu, Q. Wu, and J. Li. 2005. Synergistic antibacterial effects of β-lactam antibiotic combined with silver nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology*. 16:1912-1917.
- Li, M., Zhu, L. and D. Lin. 2011. Toxicity of ZnO nanoparticles to *Escherichia coli*: mechanism and the influence of medium components. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 45:1977-1983.
- Li W.-R., X.-B. Xie, Q.-S. Shi, H.-Y. Zeng, Y.-S. Ou-Yang, and Y.-B. Chen. 2010. Antibacterial activity and mechanism of silver nanoparticles on *Escherichia coli*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 85:1115-1122.
- Limbach L. K., P. Wick, P. Manser, R. N. Grass, A. Bruinink, and W. J. Stark. 2007. Exposure of engineered nanoparticles to human lung epithelial cells: influence of chemical composition and catalytic activity on oxidative stress. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 41:4158-4163.
- Lin D., and B. Xing. 2008. Root uptake and phytotoxicity of ZnO nanoparticles. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 42:5580-5585.
- Linnert T., P. Mulvaney, and A. Henglein. 1990. Long-lived nonmetallic silver clusters in aqueous solution: preparation and photolysis. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*. 112:4657-4664.
- Lyon D. Y., L. K. Adams, J. C. Falkner, and P. J. J. Alvarez. 2006. Antibacterial activity of fullerene water suspensions: effects of preparation method and particle size. *Environmental Science and Technology* 40:4360-4366.
- Mah T. F., and G. A. O'Toole. 2001. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Trends in Microbiology*. 9:34-39.
- Ma Y., N. Li, C. Yang, and X. Yang. 2005. One-step synthesis of amino-dextranprotected gold and silver nanoparticles and its application in biosensors. *Analytical and Bioanalytic Chemistry*. 382:1044-1048.

- Maynard A. D. 2007. Nanotechnology: the next big thing, or much ado about nothing? *The Annals of Occupational Hygiene*. 51:1-12.
- McBain A. J., P. Gilbert, and D. G. Allison. 2003. Biofilms and biocides: are there implications for antibiotic resistance? *Reviews in Environmental Science and Biotechnology*. 2:141-146.
- Miao A.-J., K. A. Schwehr, C. Xu, S.-J. Zhang, Z. Luo, A. Quigg, and P. H. Santschi. 2009. The algal toxicity of silver engineered nanoparticles and detoxification by exopolymeric substances. *Environmental Pollution*. 157:3034-3041.
- Morel F. M. M. and J. G. Hering. 1993. Principles and Applications of Aquatic Chemistry, Wiley-Interscience, New York.
- Morones J. R., J. L. Elechiguerra, A. Camacho, K. Holt, J. B. Kouri, J. T. Ramírez, and M. J. Yacaman. 2005. The bactericidal effect of silver nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology*. 16:2346-2353.
- Mueller N. C., and B. Nowack. 2008. Exposure modeling of engineered nanoparticles in the environment. *Environmental Science and Technology* 42:4447-4453.
- Musee, N., Thwala, M. and Nota, N. 2011. The antibacterial effects of engineered nanomaterials: implications for wastewater treatment plants. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*. 13:1164-1183
- Navarro E., F. Piccapietra, B. Wagner, F. Marconi, R. Kaegi, N. Odzak, L. Sigg, and R. Behra. 2008. Toxicity of silver nanoparticles to *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 42:8959-8964.
- Nel A. E., L. M\u00e4dler, D. Velegol, T. Xia, E. M. V. Hoek, P. Somasundaran, F. Klaessig, V. Castranova, and M. Thompson. 2009. Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. *Nature Materials*. 8:543-557.
- Nickel J. C., I. Ruseska, J. B. Wright, and J. W. Costerton. 1985. Tobramycin resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cells growing as a biofilm on urinary catheter material. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 27:619-624.
- Nguyen Phung-Ngoc H. 2010. The tolerance of *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to silver nanoparticles and nano- C_{60} in biofilm and planktonic cultures. MSE Thesis. The University of Texas at Austin.
- Oberdörster G., A. Maynard, K. Donaldson, V. Castranova, J. Fitzpatrick, K. Ausman, J. Carter, B. Karn, W. Kreyling, D. Lai, S. Olin, N. Monteiro-Riviere, D. Warheit, and H. Yang. 2005. Principles for characterizing the potential human health

effects from exposure to nanomaterials: elements of a screening strategy. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*. 2:8.

- Olson M. E., H. Ceri, D. W. Morck, A. G. Buret, and R. R. Read. 2002. Biofilm bacteria: formation and comparative susceptibility to antibiotics. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research*. 66:86-92.
- Pal S. Y. K. Tak, J. Joardar, W. Kim, J. E. Lee, M. S. Han, and J. M. Song. 2009. Nanocrystalline silver supported on activated carbon matrix from hydrosol: antibacterial mechanism under prolonged incubation conditions. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology* 9:2092-2103.
- Pal S, Y. K. Tak, and J. M. Song. 2007. Does the antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles depend on the shape of the nanoparticle? A study of the gramnegative bacterium *Escherichia coli*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 73:1712-1720.
- Panacek A., L. Kvítek, R. Prucek, M. Kolar, R. Vecerova, N. Pizúrova, V. K. Sharma, T. Nevecna, and R. Zboril. 2006. Silver colloid nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and their antibacterial activity. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*. 110:16248-16253.
- Panyala N. R., E. M. Peña-Méndez, and J. Havel. 2008. Silver or silver nanoparticles : a hazardous threat to the environment and human health ? *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*. 6:117-129.
- Peulen, T.-O. and K. J. Wilkinson. 2011. Diffusion of nanoparticles in a biofilm. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 45: 3367-3373.
- Rai M., A. Yadav, and A. Gade. 2009. Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials. *Biotechnology Advances*. 27:76-83.
- Rani S. A., B. Pitts, H. Beyenal, R. A. Veluchamy, Z. Lewandowski, W. M. Davison, K. Buckingham-Meyer, and P. S. Stewart. 2007. Spatial patterns of DNA replication, protein synthesis, and oxygen concentration within bacterial biofilms reveal diverse physiological states. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 189:4223-4233.
- Ratte H. T. 1999. Bioaccumulation and toxicity of silver compounds: a review. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 18:89-108.
- Renato I., P. Enrico, and G. David. 2009. Feasibility evaluation for the industrial reuse of wastewater with moderate chloride concentration in central Italy. *Desalination* and Water Treatment. 6:160-168.

- Richmonds C., and R. M. Sankaran. 2008. Plasma-liquid electrochemistry: Rapid synthesis of colloidal metal nanoparticles by microplasma reduction of aqueous cations. *Applied Physics Letters*. 93:3-5.
- Robinson K., and V. Calderon. 2010. Analysis of environmental samples with the Agilent 710-ES following US EPA guidelines. Varian ICPOES Application Note No. 38.
- Royal Society and Royal Academy of Engineering, 2004. Nanoscience and nanotechnologies: opportunities and uncertainties, RS policy document 19/04, *The Royal Society*.
- Ruden S., K. Hilpert, M. Berditsch, P. Wadhwani, and A. S. Ulrich. 2009. Synergistic interaction between silver nanoparticles and membrane-permeabilizing antimicrobial peptides. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 53:3538-3540.
- Sauer K., A. K. Camper, G. D. Ehrlich, J. W. Costerton, and D. G. Davies. 2002. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* displays multiple phenotypes during development as a biofilm. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 184:1140-1154.
- Sayes C. M., A. M. Gobin, K. D. Ausman, J. Mendez, J. L. West, and V. L. Colvin. 2005. Nano-C₆₀ cytotoxicity is due to lipid peroxidation. *Biomaterials*. 26:7587-7595.
- Shannon M. A., P. W. Bohn, M. Elimelech, J. G. Georgiadis, B. J. Mariñas, and A. M. Mayes. 2008. Science and technology for water purification in the coming decades. *Nature*. 452:301-310.
- Sharma V. K., R. A. Yngard, and Y. Lin. 2009. Silver nanoparticles: green synthesis and their antimicrobial activities. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*. 145:83-96.
- Silver S. 2003. Bacterial silver resistance: molecular biology and uses and misuses of silver compounds. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*. 27:341-353.
- Solioz M. and A. Odermatt. 1995. Copper and silver transport by CopB-ATPase in membrane vesicles of *Enterococcu hirae*. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 270:9217–9221.
- Sondi I., D. V. Goia, and E. Matijević. 2003. Preparation of highly concentrated stable dispersions of uniform silver nanoparticles. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*. 260:75-81.
- Sondi I., and B. Salopek-Sondi. 2004. Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on *E. coli* as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*. 275:177-182.

- Spoering A. L., and K. Lewis. 2001. Biofilms and planktonic cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* have similar resistance to killing by antimicrobials. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 183:6746-6751.
- Stewart P. S., and J. W. Costerton. 2001. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. *The Lancet*. 358:135-138.
- Stoodley P., K. Sauer, D. G. Davies, and J. W. Costerton. 2002. Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 56:187-209.
- Stumm W. and R. Wollast. 1990. Coordination chemistry of weathering: kinetics of the surface-controlled dissolution of oxide minerals. *Review of Geophysics*. 28:53-69.
- Suci P. A., M. W. Mittelman, F. P. Yu, and G. G. Geesey. 1994. Investigation of ciprofloxacin penetration into *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 38:2125-2133.
- Szomolay B., I. Klapper, J. Dockery, and P. S. Stewart. 2005. Adaptive responses to antimicrobial agents in biofilms. *Environmental Microbiology*. 7:1186-1191.
- Tack K. J., and L. D. Sabath. 1985. Increased minimum inhibitory concentrations with anaerobiasis for tobramycin, gentamicin, and amikacin, compared to latamoxef, piperacillin, chloramphenicol, and clindamycin. *Chemotherapy*. 31:204-210.
- Tan S., M. Erol, S. Sukhishvili, and H. Du. 2008. Substrates with discretely immobilized silver nanoparticles for ultrasensitive detection of anions in water using surfaceenhanced Raman scattering. *Langmuir*. 24:4765-4771.
- Teitzel G. M., and M. R. Parsek. 2003. Heavy metal resistance of biofilm and planktonic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Applied and Environmental Microbiology.* 69:2313-2320.
- Tovey M. G., and D. Brouty-Boyé. 1979. The use of the chemostat to study the relationship between cell growth rate, viability, and the effect of interferon on L 1210 cells. *Experimental Cell Research*. 118: 383-388.
- Ucisik A. S., and M. Henze. 2004. Biological denitrification of fertilizer wastewater at high chloride concentration. *Water SA*. 30:191-195.
- Walters M. C., F. Roe, A. Bugnicourt, M. J. Franklin, and P. S. Stewart. 2003. Contributions of antibiotic penetration, oxygen limitation, and low metabolic activity to tolerance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms to ciprofloxacin and tobramycin. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 47:317-323.

- Weast, R. C. 1968. Solubility Product. CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 49th edition. CRC Press, OH.
- Werner E., F. Roe, A. Bugnicourt, M. J. Franklin, A. Heydorn, S. Molin, B. Pitts, and P. S. Stewart. 2004. Stratified growth in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 70:6188-6196.
- Wiley B., T. Herricks, Y. Sun, and Y. Xia. 2004. Polyol synthesis of silver nanoparticles: use of chloride and oxygen to promote the formation of single-crystal, truncated cubes and tetrahedrons. *Nano Letters*. 4:1733-1739.
- Wingender, J., and H.-C Flemming. 1999. Autoaggregation of Microorganisms: Flocs and Biofilms. *Biotechnology: Environmental Processes I, Volume 11a, Second Edition*. Wiley-VCH, Germany.
- Wu B., R. Huang, M. Sahu, X. Feng, P. Biswas, and Y. J. Tang. 2009. Bacterial responses to Cu-doped TiO₂ nanoparticles. *Cell*. 408:2-5.
- Xu K. D., P. S. Stewart, F. Xia, C.-T. Huang, and G. A. McFeters. 1998. Spatial physiological heterogeneity in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm is determined by oxygen availability. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. 64:4035-4039.
- Xu R., D. Wang, J. Zhang, and Y. Li. 2006. Shape-dependent catalytic activity of silver nanoparticles for the oxidation of styrene. *Chemistry An Asian Journal*. 1:888-893.
- Xu X.-H. N., W. J. Brownlow, S. V. Kyriacou, Q. Wan, and J. J. Viola. 2004. Real-time probing of membrane transport in living microbial cells using single nanoparticle optics and living cell imaging. *Biochemistry*. 43:10400-10413.
- Xu X., Q. Yang, Y. Wang, H. Yu, X. Chen, and X. Jing. 2006. Biodegradable electrospun poly(l-lactide) fibers containing antibacterial silver nanoparticles. *European Polymer Journal*. 42:2081-2087.
- Yang L., and D. J. Watts. 2005. Particle surface characteristics may play an important role in phytotoxicity of alumina nanoparticles. *Toxicology Letters*. 158:122-132.
- Yarwood J.M. and P.M. Schlievert. 2003. Quorum sensing in *Staphylococcus* infections, *Journal of Clinical Investigations*. 112:1620–1625.
- Yoon K.-Y., J. H. Byeon, J.-H. Park, J. H. Ji, G. N. Bae, and J. Hwang. 2008. Antimicrobial characteristics of silver aerosol nanoparticles against *Bacillus subtilis* bioaerosols. *Environmental Engineering Science*. 25:289-294.

- Zhang H., Q. Li, H. Wang, D. Sun, Y. Lu, and N. He. 2007. Accumulation of silver(I) ion and diamine silver complex by *Aeromonas* SH10 biomass. *Applied Biochemistry* and Biotechnology. 143:54-62.
- Zhang T. C., Y. C. Fu, P. L. Bishop, M. Kupferl, S. Fitzgerald, H. H. Jiang, and C. Harmer. 1995. Transport and biodegradation of toxic organics in biofilms. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. 41:267-285.
- Zhang Y., M. Yang, N. G. Portney, D. Cui, G. Budak, E. Ozbay, M. Ozkan, and C. S. Ozkan. 2008. Zeta potential: a surface electrical characteristic to probe the interaction of nanoparticles with normal and cancer human breast epithelial cells. *Biomedical Microdevices*. 10:321-328.
- Zhao X. Q., and F. W. Bai. 2009. Mechanisms of yeast stress tolerance and its manipulation for efficient fuel ethanol production. *Journal of Biotechnology*. 144:23-30.
- Zhu J., and J. J. Mekalanos. 2003. Quorum sensing-dependent biofilms enhance colonization in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Developmental Cell*. 5:647-656.

Vita

Qiao Huan Gao was born in Guangzhou, China. She immigrated with her parents to the United States as a young child and had an early interest in math and science. She attended Brooklyn Technical High School, where she majored in biomedical sciences. After graduating from high school in June 2005, Qiao entered Columbia University. She earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Earth and Environmental Engineering in May 2009. After completing several research internships as an undergraduate, she decided to continue with graduate studies at The University of Texas at Austin. Funded by the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program, she received a Master of Science degree in Environmental Engineering in August 2011. Following graduate school, she will be working as a water engineer at an environmental engineering consulting firm, CH2M Hill.

Permanent email: ami3gao@gmail.com

This thesis was typed by Qiao Huan Gao.